

UNIVERSITY OF NEW ZEALAND

A Scholarly Review of Supply Chain Integration within the New Zealand Wool Industry







Editor: Carel N. Bezuidenhout, PhD

Co-authored by:

Daniel Passos de Oliveira, Anthony Black, Teresa Murrell, Chelsea Dela Cruz, Bhavin Vaghela, Logan P. Kirk, Rahul Dilip Kathara, Noah Sun

Published: December 2021

Operations and Engineering Innovation Massey University, Manawatu Campus, Palmerston North

Reference this publication as follow:

Bezuidenhout, C. N. (ed.), Passos de Oliveira D., Black A., Murrell T., Dela Cruz C., Vaghela B., Kirk L.P., Kathara R.D., Sun N. (2021) A Scholarly Review of Supply Chain Integration within the New Zealand Wool Industry. ISBN 978-0-473-61041-8, Massey University, New Zealand, 50p.



Integration: the process of combining two or more things... into one.

Cambridge Dictionary (2020)

Table of Contents

Prefaceiv
Acknowledgements
Introduction to the New Zealand Wool Industry1
Integrated Supply Chain Thinking5
Supply Chain Culture
Credence Attributes and Value Add
Supply Chain Collaboration
Supply Chain Leadership15
Supply Chain Power
Negotiation in the Supply Chain21
Supply Chain Coordination
Collaborative Supply Chain Planning28
Integrated Supply Chain Risk Management30
Measuring Supply Chain Performance and Benchmarking32
Conclusion35
Bibliography
Acknowledgement of Images used in this Publication

This e-book is in the Public Domain. The book may be copied and distributed, including for commercial purposes.





Preface

Supply Chain Integration is a vast field of study, and a Google Scholar search will reveal more than 2.7 million publications in this space. This document captures some of the core concepts when the degree of integration of a primary industry supply chain, such as the wool industry, is evaluated. The book was developed after final year students in Massey University's Logistics and Supply Chain Management Programme conducted an in-depth review as part of a formal assessment. The content of the book is of a scholarly nature and caution should be practiced before any guidelines are implemented. The students studied the literature, reports, newspaper articles and accessed information on the internet. However, the most valuable source of information was through interviews with industry representatives, most noteworthy, an interactive question and answer session with wool exporter, Mr Ryan Cosgrove.

Acknowledgements

Ryan Cosgrove from Carrfields and Phillippa Wright from Wright Wool provided valuable contacts and information concerning the NZ Wool industry. We also would like to thank the following individuals for providing short soundbites concerning the wool industry; Peter Whiteman (CEO Segard Masurel), Peter Christensen (Chairman of Wool Exporters and GM of Schneider NZ), Craig Smith (Chairman of the National Council), Grant Edwards (Chairman of the NZ Wool Brokers Association and GM Wool PGG Wrightson) and Dean Harrison (Chairman of the Merchant Association). The views published in this scholarly document do not necessarily reflect the opinions of the individuals mentioned above.



Introduction to the New Zealand Wool Industry

Sheep arrived in New Zealand in 1773 and 1777 by British navigator James Cook. Samuel Marsden, a Missionary, moved sheep to the Bay of Islands from New South Wales in 1814 and John Bell brought sheep to Mana Island in 1834 to be used as food for whalers (McLintock, 1966). During the same period sheep from Australia were also brought to Wellington and Wairarapa by Charles Bidwill, Charles Clifford, William Vavasour and Henry Petre. Wool was ideal for export, because it was easy to store and transport, and there was strong overseas demand due to an expanding textile industry (Science Learning Hub, 2010). During the 1850's, sheep farming expanded to the South Island. In 1858 there were approximately 1.5 million sheep in New Zealand, which by 1867, increased to 8.5 million (Te Papa's on floor multimedia database, 1998). Taunton (2019) points out that by 1982, the sheep population in New Zealand hit a peak of more than 70 million, however, this dramatically dropped to 27.4 million by 2000. As of June 2020, there has been an estimated count of 26.1 million sheep in New Zealand (Granwal, 2021). Sheep numbers have been declining by approximately 800,000 per annum.

The New Zealand wool industry is the world's largest supplier of strong wool. New Zealand's economy was built on sheep with wool being the most valuable export from 1856 to 1967. At

its peak during the great New Zealand wool boom in 1951, wool exports increased by over 70% and wool accounted for nearly 52% of the country's export revenue ("The Price of Wool and Economic Growth", 2021). According to the Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO; Donald, 2020), in 2018 New Zealand ranked eighth in the world with approximately 27.3 million sheep within its borders. The country produces approximately 128,000 metric ton of wool annually. The most common breeds kept for wool in New Zealand are Romney, Merino, Polwarth, Corriedale, and English Leicester. Interests in breeds, such as Arapawa and Gotland have been steadily increasing. Romney sheep as it is dual purpose making up approximately 52% of the national flock.

While Australia leads in producing fine wool used in the apparel industry, New Zealand produces 90% of the world's cross-bred coarse wool. New Zealand exported 41,752 ton of wool in 2018, used primarily in the carpet, upholstery, and blanket industries. However, wool exports have nearly halved since 2012. Fine Merino wool is highly valuable as it is soft and can be dyed and manufactured into fine yarns destined for the high-end fashion clothing markets. Merino only makes up 3% of New Zealand's total wool production ("Wool production and processing", 2021), and unfortunately, growing competition from





synthetic fibres have lower the demand for strong wool.

Wool prices have steadily declined, and in 2020 wool was selling for a third of the price compared to five years earlier. For many farmers the cost of shearing has exceeded earnings. But many farmers strongly believe in the value of their product and foresee better opportunities in the future. The concern arises whether declines in exports would reach a point at which farmers would be only sheering sheep for animal health purposes and not for earning additional revenue.



There is currently increasing consumer demand for natural and sustainable products, and along with the anti-plastic movements, this provides the New Zealand wool sector a significant opportunity for re-growth. New and innovative products for wool using fine merino for activewear have caused a recent boom in demand. Wool is a versatile commodity with a range of benefits over its synthetic competitors. Wool is 100% natural, biodegradable, renewable, fire-resistant, and can be manufactured into a wide variety of products. ("Vision and Action for New Zealand's Wool Sector", 2020). New Zealand has some of the most highly prized wool in the world and continues to be a significant player in the global market.

The wool supply chain constitutes different stages and can be divided into local consumption and export. Value chain partners may include a combination of growers, brokers, merchants, local processors, domestic retailers, exporters, global manufacturers and/or global retailers. Large organisations include, amongst others, PGG Wrightson Wool, Primary Wool Cooperative, Cavalier Bremworth and the NZ Merino Company (Ministry of Primary Industries, 2020). Wool is classified before typically sold at auctions to wool brokers, this classification is based on several factors: including, its fibre diameter, length, tensile strength, yield (the proportion of clean washed wool from the original greasy state), colour, and bulk. Wool brokers will typically on-sell their



wool to the exporters who will supply to overseas yarn manufacturers.



The flow of wool through the New Zealand strong wool value chain; Conforte et al. (n.d.)



Wool Processing stages: Fleece to Fabric (International Wool Textile Organisation, n.d.)

As wool is produced into different products like insulation, clothing and carpets, different breeds produce different types of wool (Flaws, 2020). The National Library of New Zealand (2008) defines the following:

Raw wool - "Wool fibre together with variable amounts of vegetable matter and extraneous alkali-insoluble substances, mineral matter, wool waxes, suint and moisture". Greasy wool – "Wool from the sheep's back or sheepskins which has not been scoured, solvent degreased, carbonised or otherwise processed".

Wool which has been scoured, carbonised, washed, or solvent degreased – "Greasy or slipe wools that have been commercially scoured, carbonised or solvent

degreased, excluding washed and partly washed wools".

Slipe wool – "Slipe wool is wool removed from skins produced by meat processors. It may contain residues from the slipping process, such as "lime" and skin pieces. Additionally, there is evidence to suggest that the slipping process may alter the way wool initially absorbs moisture. This may affect the measurement of wool base".

Wood (2014) indicates that in the early 2000's over half of the exported raw wool in NZ went to Asian countries, while a third went to western countries. The flow of wool from Australia has been similar. Wool is a product with intrinsic variability that cannot be readily adapted to change in manufacturers' needs. As a result, it faces stiff competition from synthetic textiles made from petrochemicals in a segment of the worldwide textile market. By 2010 competition by the synthetic fibres



MASSEY UNIVERSITY te kunenga ki pūrehuroa

market led to significant declines in demands for wool. China is the largest market for New Zealand's wool and COVID-19 has also affected the market demand due to reduced manufacturing capabilities. Data from Stats New Zealand show that by January 2021 total wool exports have fallen by 30.2%. At that stage New Zealand was earning more from live animal exports than from wool clip (Marshall, J., 2021). Lamb constituted 4.1% of all New Zealand exports in 2019, while wool was only responsible for 0.56% (Atlas of economic complexity, 2019).

The following information was produced using the Google Trends (2021) tool and shows the comparative nature of web-based searches for wool in different languages (blue on the graph, depicts Google searches for " $\mathcal{D} \rightarrow \mathcal{V}$ ", which is Japanese for wool). The map presents the regional intensity on searches for "wool" in English. Interest in wool is cyclical and peaks during the northern hemisphere winter.



laine
wolle



MASSEY UNIVERSITY TE KUNENGA KI PŪREHUROA

Integrated Supply Chain Thinking

Supply chain management (SCM) is about "integrating all key operational processes at any level between the final users and original suppliers to create added value for customers and other stakeholders" (Lambert & Cooper, 2000). Supply chain integration is founded on a systems perspective which asserts that the optimisation of the whole entity attains better performance compared to a string of optimised sub-systems (Parnaby, 1979; Christopher, 2005 as cited by Childerhouse & Towill, 2011).

The practice is seen as an overarching redesign that refines traditional approaches and connects entities through information sharing and coordination (Katunzi, 2011). According to Flynn et al. (2010), supply chain competitiveness and success are built upon a robustly integrated supply chain, including collaboration, shared vision, high level of coordination, shared information, and technical infrastructure between producers and distributors.

Integration offers short and long term benefits such as the firm's financial performance, while long-term benefits translate to customer value creation (Annan et al., 2016 as cited by Feyissa, Sharma & Lai, 2019). Furthermore, supply chain integration provides the effectiveness of balancing supply and demand. Everv organisation requires four major business components to be effective and profitable, namely, strategic product innovation, a resilient supply chain, agile operational and financial planning, and streamlined transportation. According to Prajogo & Olhager (2012), developing an integrated supply chain will deliver benefits such as, increased visibility and collaboration that helps organisations to reduce costs, production time, response time and wastage. However, the blanket assumption that a more integrated supply chain is always more profitable can be challenged since a fully integrated supply chain may be too costly to achieve.

Businesses strategically coordinate with their supply chain partners to manage internal and external processes in order to attain a seamless flow of goods and services, as well as to provide end consumers with maximum value at the lowest possible cost and highest efficiency (Yinan & Zhaofang, 2009). Understanding the links between internal and external parties and developing organisational strategies are of paramount importance to the effective implementation of a more integrated supply chain (Feyissa, Sharma & Lai, 2019). Integration ranges from supplier to consumer and stresses the principles of shared decision making, collaboration, shared vision, high levels of trust and open communication between producers and their respective customers (Flynn, Huo, & Zhao, 2010). Research reveals that enterprises utilizing technological innovations, such as cloud applications. for more open communication and visibility have increased their customer satisfaction by considerable margins. Zhang et al. (2013) derived the model below using the analogy of a computer network and a layered approach in describing the levels for supply chain integration.



MASSEY UNIVERSITY te kunenga ki pūrehuroa



Elements of integration, Zhang et al. (2013)

VERTICAL AND HORIZONTAL INTEGRATION IN THE WOOL INDUSTRY

In New Zealand more wool supply chains are becoming vertically integrated, however, this is still a relatively small percentage within the sector. Product flow is smooth and well organised throughout New Zealand, but little business integration across the wool sector appear to exist. The uptake of digital systems, for example, appears to be slow with some parties still relying on traditional pen and notebooks in 2021. In order to achieve supply chain integration as per the definitions stated above, each participating stakeholder first needs to achieve internal integration amongst all departments.

The industry may also benefit from more horizontal integration. Horizontal integration refers to integration between competitors as opposed to those who have a buyer-seller relationship (Gaughan, 2013). This will give the industry more buying and selling power within the market. Also, horizontal integration may allow for new product development and business innovation within the industry due to the larger capital available and economies of scale.

There are probably five key types of integration needed to achieve competent supply chain integration in the wool industry, namely; Relationship integration
 Measurement integration
 Planning integration
 Internal operational integration, and
 Customer integration (Huo, 2012).

INFORMATION SHARING IN THE WOOL INDUSTRY

Information sharing is an essential element of coordination in a supply chain and allows firms to access data across different groups along the chain to collaborate in various activities (Kumar & Pugazhendhi, 2012). In New Zealand's wool industry there is often a perception that shared information within the sector will inform competitors and may disadvantage the business. Despite being able to synthesise information from wool auctions and export tariff data, members of the wool industry do not necessarily allow others to easily access their data. Contrary to some assumptions that information sharing may create mutually beneficial outcomes, the wool industry views this as an avenue for some contenders to gain a competitive advantage. This probably contributes to the inhibition of supply chain integration in the sector.



MASSEY UNIVERSITY TE KUNENGA KI PŪREHUROA



Supply Chain Culture

According to Deshpande & Webster, 1989 "A corporate culture involves shared beliefs. norms throughout values, and an organization". It is also important to note that culture is not limited to only a certain group of people, such as management. Smircich (2017) states that "organizations do not have cultures, they are cultures; culture is a kind of social glue that connects the organization within itself." Essentially culture is like the "personality" of the business; it is simply "the way things are done around here" (Deal & Kennedy, 2000). Business leaders play an important role in creating and communicating culture across the business and ensuring culture is in line with the organisation's business strategy. Organisational culture becomes a firm's source of competitive advantage which could lead to increased innovation (Barney, 1986 as cited by Sung & Kim, 2019), efficient operations and enhanced performance (Denison & Mishra, 1995 as cited by Sung & Kim, 2019).

If collaborating organisations have different organisational practices, it will result in poor performance, commitment issues and conflicting communication. "A supply chain should be results-based, employee-focused,

flexible, pragmatic, externally-focused and able to thrive on constructive criticism. Conversely, where the supply chain's culture is rule-driven, focused, defensive, inflexible, job and internally- focused, this appears to have a direct correlation with poor performance" (Cadden, T., Marshall, D., & Cao, G., 2013). One of the most widely accepted frameworks for assessing organisational culture is the Competing Values Framework (CVF) (Quinn & Rohrbaugh, 1981). These authors argue that every organization will have some part of each of the four culture types, rather than one or the other. A culture type works best in the activities domain that aligns with its values. The four culture types are listed below and illustrated in the following figure.

ORGANISATIONAL CULTURE TYPES:



Create (ADHOCRACY): Do new things.



Control (HIERARCHY): Do things right.

Compete (MARKET): Do things fast.





Competing Values Framework (Quinn & Rohrbaugh, 1981)



Handy (2016) identifies four types of cultures that may exist in an organisation (first figure below), while Mello and Stank (2005) unpack the activities that develop culture in a supply chain (figure on next page).



Handy's four organizational culture types (2016)

In 2008, James Parsons referred to the wool industry culture as that of independence, mistrust, and poor communication that is caused by dysfunctional supply chain structures and hindering the transformation of New Zealand's wool industry. The wool industry in New Zealand is relatively old, well stablished and recalls an era when business was better compared to today. This promotes a predominantly traditional culture where supply chain members operate in a way similar to past decades, sharing many of the same beliefs, values and norms. Traditional cultures make it more difficult to collaborate with new partners and to develop new opportunities. However, there is a New Zealand phrase referring to the "Number Eight Wire", which originates out of rural fencing (Motovated, 2019). Some operators refer to this saying when they describe a culture in the wool industry, signifying strength and toughness.



MASSEY UNIVERSITY TE KUNENGA KI PŪREHUROA



Development and outcomes of supply chain orientation as a strong corporate culture (Mello, J. E., & Stank, T. P., 2005).

Quality relationships between partners are crucial for effective supply chain management. These relationships are built on common values and trust. Fairness is an important attribute between supply chain partners, especially when business is constrained. Trust between supply chain partners is hard to achieve and arguably even harder to measure, making this a complex supply chain attribute to understand and manage. The fairness perception can affect the trust perception and will damage the quality of a relationship. Sun, Y., Zhu, Z., & Yang, H. (2021) confirm that price satisfaction significantly affects the fairness perception. This creates a delicate balance between price, trust and fairness that needs to be nurtured between supply chain partners.

In 2015 the wool industry was significantly challenged in a short space of time and, to the opinion of some, initiated a shift towards a more transformational culture. In a transformational stage of the wool industry, the supply chain culture is expected to be more collaborative. Parsons stated already in 2008 that innovative leadership and visionary governance are of great importance to make necessary changes that will create a shift in culture and transform the industry.





Credence Attributes and Value Add

Purchasing decisions of consumers are based on various product attributes. These attributes can be categorised into three groups: Search Attributes, Experience Attributes, and Credence Attributes (Nelson, 1970, Darby & Karni, 1973 as cited by Peterson, Hustvedt & Chen, 2012). Search Attributes are observable product characteristics such as price and brand, while experience attributes are those that involve sensory contact. Credence attributes, on the other hand, refer to features of a product that cannot be directly perceived or determined through product experience (Wirth et al., 2011 as cited by Miller, Driver, Velasquez & Saunders, 2014) and are usually conveyed on a label or a type of certification (Miller, Driver, Velasquez & Saunders, 2014).

Examples of credence attributes include product safety, country of origin, organic production processes, animal welfare, and impact on and protection of the environment (Miller, Driver, Velasquez & Saunders, 2014). These attributes influence how consumers perceive value and quality of a product and their willingness-to-pay, which in turn can lead to increased purchasing intentions. From a supply chain perspective, the drive towards increased credence attributes typically goes hand in hand with capability development, skills training, research and development, accreditation and standards, as well as sector connection and coordination.

Most of the credence attributes in the wool industry could be related to animal welfare, environmental impact, social welfare and cultural benefits. New Zealand has strict regulations with regards to animal welfare (Wilcox, 2019). This is probably not fully exploited by the wool industry. The New Zealand sheep and beef market also include policies concerning free range and grass feed welfare (Beef and Lamb New Zealand, 2017), while other countries may require the use of grain and growth hormones to meet supply chain demands (Food Print, 2019).

Farmers and advocates of the wool industry are continuously aiming to repurpose and innovate products to bring wool back in trend. Stakeholders have a strong believe in an emerging future for wool due to, amongst others, its environmental-friendly credence attributes (Marshall, 2021). In 2012, Peterson et al. found that most US consumers prefer wool to acrylic, and they also distinguished between domestic and imported wool products. They valued organic certification less in comparison to credence attributes that

combined environmental sustainability and animal welfare as a whole. Wool is receiving increasing attention due to the growing demand of millennials for sustainable products (Poala, 2018 as cited by Morrison, 2018). The chief executive of Italian textile mill Successori Reda, confirmed this by stating:

"This moment for sure is a good moment for the wool growers... The millennial consumer doesn't just want to buy a product or a brand, they want to buy a story and an experience that respects their environmental philosophy." - Erole Botto Poala

The local processing of wool products potentially generates favourable credence attributes in the form of a reduced carbon footprint and an opportunity for "made in New Zealand" branding. Big Save Furniture, for example, is a New Zealand business choosing wool over polyester for its upholstery of sofas. Kilsby (2021) states that Big Save Furniture has also committed itself to paying farmers a 'fair price' for their wool, which is part of its sustainability efforts. Several other new products are emerging in the industry. For



MASSEY UNIVERSITY TE KUNENGA KI PŪREHUROA

example, the product design company Woolkin, has been exploring innovative new uses for wool. The company derived a new material, Naturesclip, which is designed to be machine processed like timber, mouldable like plastic and foldable like metal while retaining the inherent properties of wool (Marshall, 2021). Woolkin has a vision to replace plastic products and is working on Bubble Wool, an alternative for bubble wrap and other synthetic packaging solutions (Marshall, 2021). Sam and Sophie Hurley, who are third-generation farmers based in Papanui, have created a reusable bag out of wool when plastic bags in supermarkets were phased out. This invention also paved the way for the innovation of higher-value products, such as felt hats and bags that are now produced under the Honest Wolf brand.

New Zealand firms, however, can encounter difficulties when they choose domestic processing. The local market is small, and businesses are often forced to start exporting to other countries (Saunders et al., 2011). Market positioning abroad may be challenging due to distance from the market and other more general concerns, like access to finance.





Supply Chain Collaboration

Simatupang and Sridharan (2004) define collaboration as "two or more chain members working together to create a competitive advantage through sharing information, making joint decisions, and sharing benefits which result from greater profitability of satisfying end customer needs than acting alone". Supply chain integration is heavily reliant on the collaboration with other supply chain partners and significant time and effort are needed to build these long-term relationships. In a competitive supply chain market, the alignment of two organisations can be hard to achieve, as players need to navigate many differences in organizational structure, culture, and strategies. This is especially the

case when collaborating with supply chain players who traditionally would have been seen as competitors. Trust quickly becomes a key element in the formation of collaborative partnerships. Mangan & Lalwani (2016) define a collaborative partnership as a step-by-step journey that takes trust and time to be formed.

Four broad stages of collaboration can be identified as per the figure below. Cohen & Roussel (2005) argue that not all relationships need to be collaborative to its full extent and organizations will sometimes benefit more from having fewer, but stronger and longerlasting relationships.

OPEN MARKET NEGOTIATION PRICE BASED DECUSSTIONS ADVERSE RELATIONSHIPS COOPERATION FEWER SUPPLIERS LONGER-TERM CONTRACTS COORDINATION INFORMATION LINKAGES E.g. VMI/ EDI exchange COLLABORATION SC INTERGRATION JOINT PLANNING & TECHNOLOGY SHARING A Scholarly Review of Supply Chain Integration within the New Zealand Wool Industry Gattorna (2003) provides a simple stepwise framework on how a collaborative supply chain MASSEY UNIVERSITY TE KUNENGA KI PŪREHUROA Step 2: Improve collaboration with

strategy can be rolled out within an organisation:			customers and suppliers (Vertical collaboration)	
Step 1: Integrate the internal functioning of the supply chain (Internal collaboration)		Step 3: S s (ynchronize the supply chain and ector into one logical enterprise Horizontal integration)	
	Vertical Collaboratior	ı		
	External Collaboration (Suppliers)			
External Collaboration (Other Organisation	Internal Collaboration	External Collaboration (Competitors)	Horizontal Collaboration	
	External Collaboration (Customers)		-	

Scope of collaboration (Barrett, 2004)

Almost all supply chain businesses begin their collaboration journey by firstly addressing internal collaboration. Internal collaboration means unifying business unit functions and processes within the firm by breaking down the traditional business unit silos, such as marketing, planning, logistics, finance, and improving communication and information sharing across these business activities. (Soosay, Ferrer, Santa, & Hyland). An example of internal collaboration is the development of highly efficient, cross-functional teams.

Over recent years the wool industry has put significant time and resources into how it can better operate and gain value for the industry. According to a statement by Primary Wool Cooperative chair Janette Osborne, "forward focus needs to be on collaboration, innovation, promotion, advocacy, and good governance", and "Under collaboration shareholders want to see a broken industry work towards becoming whole".

Horizontal collaboration seems to be appearing at auction houses and exporting markets, with data becoming more available as technology becomes integrated (Wool Online, 2020). However, it is not yet clear on how many local businesses and farmers are taking advantage of this information and implementing new techniques. In 2019 a strategic collaboration agreement was announced between Cavalier Corporation Limited and the New Zealand Merino Company. This alignment aimed at implementing a transformative and design-led business model targeted at connecting consumers with the company's wool product.

For farmers to increase their returns, many wool growers have also joined forces in establishing wool co-operatives. This enables farmers to participate further down the supply

chain in scouring, spinning, and exporting when compared to a traditional supply chain model. The most recent merger between the Primary Wool Cooperative and Wools of New Zealand has been significant. Primary Wool Cooperative (PWC) chairman Hamish de Lautour said; *"The collaboration would increase the scale and clout of the growers, to better represent their interests*". Together the shareholders of WONZ and PWC produce over one third of New Zealand's entire strong wool clip.

Benefits of the New Zealand Wool Co-Ops merger include:



Increased economies of scale,

Increased influence and power within the industry,



Building a stronger entity to represent farmer interests,

Offer the combined scale and vision required to make a difference for New Zealand's sheep industry,

Building stronger more direct relationships with customers and consumers, and



MASSEY UNIVERSITY TE KUNENGA KI PŪREHUROA

Collaboration can achieve lower inventory levels and higher inventory turns. It is also possible to achieve lower wool transportation and warehousing costs. Shorter lead times and lower out-of-stock levels can be anticipated. Players in the wool supply chain can collaboratively improve customer service metrics and achieve visibility into customer demand and supplier performance. Good data forms the backbone for strong collaboration and facilitates aligned performance improvements across organizations. It can also be argued that collaborative benefits would enable the industry to focus on supply chain partner and staff retention, which would further help in reducing long-term costs and may even improve wool quality.



Re-inventing the supply chain and the supply chain





Supply Chain Leadership

TWO LEADERSHIP STYLES



In 2010, Junqueria presented his governance theory for enhanced supply chain management. He asserted that for integration to impact the supply chain management practices, it must be built on high levels of mutual collaboration and trust between the organization, suppliers, and distributors. Perceiving themselves as enterprises in an integrated supply chain model and no longer claiming to be autonomous entities. Still, intricately woven polygenic structures, it is critical to have leaders that can manage the entire supply chain as if it is one, without each component losing its character. As pointed out by Li et al. (2006), increased attention is placed on crafting appropriate leadership styles that can sustain whole supply chains while managing their performance for improvement.

Twin (2020) outlines business leadership as "the capacity of a company's management to set and achieve challenging goals, take fast and decisive action when needed, outperform the competition, and inspire others to perform at the highest level they can". Supply chain leadership is referred to as the sound integration amongst management of people as well as logistic systems that allows companies to continually analyse and respond to recent market trends (Sharif & Irani, 2012). It is important to note that supply chain leadership may comprise an individual, a group, or even a business.

Transformational supply chain leadership focusses on the premise that leaders encourage others and create relationships that motivate those involved in production, distribution, and the supply of goods. The transformational supply chain leadership style is characterised by attributes such as intellectual stimulation, inspiration, and individualised consideration. In this context, it seems that transformational supply chain leaders are mainly responsible for articulating the vision for the supply chain environment. Their communication of the mission and values are considered to be important and capable of influencing behaviour internally and amongst supply chain partners. Supply chain participants may possess different skills and will probably have different organisational goals. Effective transformational supply chain leaders will understand each member's perspectives and will influence them to improve overall supply chain performance.

Not all aspects of supply chain leadership require a transformational approach. Some leaders need to model transactional behaviours, where the focus is on contingent rewards and management by exception. Contracts (either verbal or written) are the governance devices between supply chain members and exist in all kinds of inter relationships. Transactional organisational supply chain leaders promote contingent reward behaviour amongst supply chain members governed by the contracts that describe the nature of exchange between parties (Mokhtar et al., 2019). Transactional leaders will also encourage supply chain partners to implement management-byexception systems, which focus on formal reporting and the systematic identification of issues that need further attention. These systems are supported by interconnected information systems that provide visibility for supply chain members and supply chain leaders prefer to manage their inter-organisational relations mainly through exception reporting.

The figure below illustrates the Followership Theoretical Model by Defee (2007). The model includes the attributes that necessitate leadership (on the left), the requirements of leadership (in the bottom) and the outcomes of good supply chain leadership (on the right).



MASSEY UNIVERSITY TE KUNENGA KI PŪREHUROA



MASSEY UNIVERSITY TE KUNENGA KI PŪREHUROA



With a need for innovation and improvement in systems, collaboration and communication between supply chain partners, there is scope for the wool industry's leaders to adopt transformational leadership characteristics. However, transactional leadership will simultaneously allow the industry to increase efficiencies, stick to goals and contracts, and focus on operational excellence to help survive the competitive business environment.

The Wool Industry Project Action Group (PAG) urges the development of a strong wool sector governance and coordination group composed of representatives from PAG, the wool industry, value chains and government, including farmers. researchers. merchants. and manufacturers that can facilitate activities across work programmes. This group should also provide leadership and cultivate trust within the sector through the identification of areas where members can collaborate and build cohesive relationships necessary for the industry's advancement. These efforts, combined with other initiatives, could in turn make New Zealand "an ethical, sustainable, and

a producer of high-quality natural fibre that is fit for a better world" (PAG, n.d.).

The wool industry, however, has multiple leaders within every branch. This enables all leaders to present information through multiple channels, such as websites, blogs, newspaper articles and in the boardroom. However, the Australian Wool International Limited (n.d) present evidence of too many leaders and too little diversity within their industry. Although each leader has responsibilities, there is little partnership and unity within the wool supply chain in Australia (Long, Becker & Field, 2019). Similar issues can be identified in the New Zealand industry and there is difficulty within the NZ wool industry to adapt to a new market due to the lack of recruitment in diversity as the industry remains stringent and traditional (Stuff, 2021). Despite each section of the wool supply chain remaining crucial to the continuation of the industry, there are probably many entities who advocate their values and beliefs, which, in turn, could easily cause conflicting discussions and thereby stagnating the progression of the wool supply chain.



<image>

Supply Chain Power

Culture, Trust and Power are three important drivers for supply chain integration. According to Zelbst et al. (2009), there is typically a focal firm within most supply chains which coordinates their business with less established companies. Li et al. (2018) define power as, the ability to control decision factors of other entities within a supply chain. This definition is complimented by Webber (1922) who describes power as "the probability that one actor within a social relationship will be in a position to carry out their own will even against resistance, regardless of the basis on which this probability rests." Krikke (2010) distinguishes five different types of power used within supply chain integration: reward power, coercive power, expert power, referent power and legitimate power and suggests a sixth power, being information power.

Reward power can be defined as, the capacity to motivate others based on the promise to deliver returns. The power of the reward improves with the value of the bonus as well as the degree to which the person/organisation is dependent for the incentive.

- Coercive power is the ability to influencing others with the use of intimidation in order to gain compliance. Coercive power relies on the fear from others to drive compliance.
- Expert power is the perception that an individual has an extensive knowledge or skill that others do not have. This view gives the individual greater influence within the area of dialogue or work.
- **Referent power** can be described as the desire to identify with others for recognition by association. Referent power is based around trust on a caseby-case bases and is be considered the most important but also the most volatile power.
- ^y **Legitimate power** is the formal authority that a person/organisation has which assigns the right to require and demand compliance. The target from

this power is defenceless and must comply with the authoritative figure.

Information power is defined as the ability to influence based on your control of information and your control over the dissemination process. This would also suggest that information power can impact the results of an outcome by providing information not previously made available.

Ke et al. (2009) group the six power types into the following two broad categories. Research has shown that in the supply chain, nonmediated power is good at strengthening relationships between players.



MASSEY UNIVERSITY

TE KUNENGA KI PŪREHUROA

• Non-mediated Power: Expert, Referent, and Information

Lee & Woo (2019) elaborate on how different types of power can be integrated to increase supply chain performance (see figure below). In a similar way, however, power can also impact supply chain performance negatively. Organisations must be aware of sources and consequences of supply chain power to ensure that supply chain power improves the supply chain and that cooperation between other supply chains can be established or avoided.



Supply chain power that can affect performance (Lee & Woo, 2019)

It is not known who holds the power within the wool industry, especially in an industry where every player is often self-interested and protecting their own business. When an industry stakeholder was asked "who appears to have the most power and influence?", they answered: "Ultimately it is the consumer." However, the merger and collaboration between two co-ops seek to enhance their legitimate power. By combining, they have improved their industry market positioning, enabling them to scale their operations, gain cost advantages, influence, and negotiation power. In the wool industry reward power is demonstrated widely at auctions or in negotiations where price is used to reward a certain product. It can be argued that wool brokers have some degree of coercive and expert power within the supply chain. Although technology has allowed accessibility for farmers to gather information on the internet and go to auctions, wool brokers are considered the subject matter experts (Ville, 2007). A broker is trusted with important information that can directly affect the sale of wool (Wool Online, 2020). In addition, according to Gill (2021), China has significant coercive power over the wool industry due to the volume they purchase.



MASSEY UNIVERSITY TE KUNENGA KI PŪREHUROA

The wool industry may be able to exploit some inherit referent power that is possess as a result of the favourable properties of its product. Wool is a natural product, it is recyclable, fire

resistant and UV resistant, making it a premium material across the apparel industry (Woolmark Company, n.d).







Negotiation in the Supply Chain

Partners in a supply chain achieve long-term objectives by combining resources, including capabilities, knowledge, and assets, to deliver superior performance and attain competitive advantage (Mintu-Wimsatt & Calantone, 1996; Atkins & Rinehart, 2006; Fang, 2006). The players negotiate the supply chain practices concerning a number of fundamental pillars (Zachariassen, 2008), namely (1) collaboration, (2) information sharing, (3) logistics design, (4) IT infrastructure and, (5) organizational culture. Negotiation requires a need for trust, mutual understanding, openness and empathy and can create joint opportunities for the parties involved (Pruitt, 1981 as cited by Zachariassen, 2008).

Negotiation is often a confidential matter because it can influence future negotiations (Malhotra, 2019). When negotiating there are four possible outcomes (Financial negotiations communicate with confidence, n.d):

- Win-Win is where it is considered that all participants within the negotiation are receiving something they desire or require. If all parties have a positive experience, they will be more inclined to negotiate again.
- 2) **Lose-Lose** is where no party involved with the negotiation gets what they want.
- 3) Lose-Win & Win-Lose is considered when one participant gets more than the other parties involved. The losing participants will often be less likely to negotiate with the winning party again.
- No Outcome is when a party or all parties involved with negotiations are unable to reach a consensuses and negotiations cease.

Cutcher-Gershenfed et al. (1995) describe two negotiation approaches, namely, Distributive Bargaining Strategies and Integrative Bargaining Strategies. They caution against



MASSEY UNIVERSITY TE KUNENGA KI PŪREHUROA

using these two approaches together during a single negotiation exercise. The Distributive Negotiation Strategy is implemented when the negotiating entities are convinced that their interests are diverse from each other and a win for one of the parties means a loss to the other (Zachariassen, 2008). This strategy is popularly compared to one-off relationships. Each party must argue feverously to get the other to agree to their terms (Zachariassen, 2008).

Distributive negotiation is best applied when:

The bargaining resource is limited, There is no relationship or it's a one-

off scenario, and

You are in a strong bargaining position.

On the other hand, Integrative Bargaining Strategies aim to reconcile the divergent entities into a mutually beneficial outcome. For this approach to work, the involved parties must trust each other, keep an open mind, have mutual understanding, and adopt a sense of empathy (Adair et al., 2001). The integrative negotiating strategy attempts to achieve a winwin scenario for all the parties involved by seeking synergistic advantages (Zachariassen, 2008).

Integrative negotiation is best applied when:

The bargaining resource is unlimited,

⁴⁾ You are in a weaker bargaining position but still wish to gain some value from the negotiations, and



maintaining a good relationship with those involved.

Due to a lack of coordination and decentralized supply chain coordination mechanisms, trading and negotiations in the New Zealand wool industry can be argued to align with distributive bargaining approaches. Any attempt to unite the industry must include conversations on how supply chain partners plan to reach agreements in the future. Some primary industries, for example, follow a formula-based payment scheme. While heated negotiations can be anticipated when the payment formula is derived, operations become more seamless and integrated once the formula is in place. Formula negotiations are often repeated in a cyclical manner.

The NZ wool industry negotiates with countries all over the world. Connelly et al. (2013) indicate that the industry is versed in negotiations with businesses in South Africa, China, United Kingdom, Italy and Japan for exporting raw wool. The process is important since companies examine how expenses might be reduced in relation to purchasing power (Connelly et al., 2013). In line with the processes, negotiation а theoretical background, focusing on two major theories, strategic, distinguishes the structural, behaviour, integrative and process analyses within a supply chain. These two theories are (1) Negotiation Analysis and (2) Game Theory.

Negotiations Analysis provides a framework for organizations to focus on the interests of parties instead of their positions. Hysson (2014) reflected on the New Zealand Wool industry negotiations that was caused by demand disruptions in 2011. The industry encountered losses of almost five million pounds, driven by the world stock levels in apparel and liquidations. This caused significant carry-over wool, which affected the industry and markets. In early 2012 the industry participated in negotiations in Australia to help curb these issues. This involved attempts to minimize costs and provide a basis of pricing support for domestic raw wool (Connelly et al., 2013). The negotiations also involved trade agreements that focused on tariff concessions, the realignment of opportunities for both foreign and domestic trade, products used during manufacturing processes, and enhancing a trade-free economy among the 50 countries who participated in the processes (Connelly et al., 2013). These frameworks facilitated a collaborative environment for the NZ wool industry and its customers.

Game Theory is a form of mathematical interaction that focuses on developing a cohesive environment between organizations through the settlement of conflicts. The theory is commonly applied in the procurement negotiations to achieve favourable outcomes and better decision-making. Stiff competition rival exists between companies and negotiations are important to enhance a cohesive environment for operations. Game Theory can be applied in the New Zealand wool industry. The sector is exposed to significant



MASSEY UNIVERSITY TE KUNENGA KI PŪREHUROA

market competition within the region, especially from Australia. The New Zealand Wool Board (NZWB) explored strategies to streamline negotiations with competitors between Australia and New Zealand. According to Mitchell et al. (2019), The New Zealand Merino Company (TNZMC), negotiated on the different approaches to competition with Wool Industries Australia Inc. in May 2015 with the aim of promoting a cohesive trading environment in the region.





MASSEY UNIVERSITY TE KUNENGA KI PŪREHUROA



Supply Chain Coordination

Supply chain coordination is defined as the mutual synchronization of supply chain activities to harmonize and share the operative risks and benefits while achieving higher operational efficacy levels and enhancing the overall supply chain competitiveness that generates more value to the consumer (Yuen & Thai, 2016). The agents of the supply chain agree upon a contract to plan and implement their autonomous activities together to optimize the paybacks of information sharing and minimize disruptions. Coordination of the supply chain relies on establishing collaborative and cooperative relationships. Cooperative relationships are defined by Power (2005) as associations between organizations that focus on information and asset sharing within areas of common interest and mutual competitive advantage. Shown in the figure on the next page, the supply chain coordination model developed by Arshinder et al. (2011) elaborates synchronization on the and working

mechanisms required to successfully implement supply chain coordination.

According to this model, supply chain coordination is established on four pillars, namely (1) perspectives and conceptual models on supply chain coordination, (2) joint consideration of functions and processes by the independent supply chain members, (3) supply chain coordination mechanisms, and (4) management of uncertainties.

The first pillar provides the structure or model to be agreed upon and embraced by the supply chain entities coming together. Members share their perspectives and motivations for wanting to work together in a coordinated supply chain. An example of a scenario from New Zealand's wool industry would be to fetch better wool prices at the local and global market, minimize logistical costs, and interact with consumers to produce the preferred wool in demand.



MASSEY UNIVERSITY te kunenga ki pūrehuroa



Supply Chain Coordination Model by Arshinder et al. (2011)

The second pillar of joint consideration of functions and processes is achieved through negotiations and leadership. In this pillar, the various supply chain members must agree upon the coordination of functions across the supply chain and discuss the interlinking and integration of the procurement-productiondistribution process. In the wool industry, supply chain parties collaborate and negotiate on their functions, roles, and responsibilities to ensure the supply chain is successful. Each party gains substantial benefits by collaborating compared to working independently.

Thirdly, supply chain partners strive toward structures and instruments that will facilitate and guarantee the success of their collaboration. The primary instruments often used include contracts, information sharing, and information technology. The figure on the next page presents a number of attributes and options that need to be considered in order to improve supply chain coordination. The wool industry employs a decentralized supply chain coordination strategy. A decentralized supply chain can be defined as a system in which the individual entities make decisions informed by local information and decision making approaches (Usuga et al., 2012). The decision structure allows entities in the supply chain to adapt better and faster to market demands since they can be easily incentivized to cooperate with others making the supply chain more agile. This also works because wool growers are dispersed across rural regions. Having centralized logistics would be impractical, especially considering there is no leader to make decisions for the entire supply chain. However, it can often be argued that the coordination among sellers and buyers can be improved in a decentralized system. Conforte et al. (2011) argue that supply chain parties, but especially farmers, miss out on the true value of their wool.



MASSEY UNIVERSITY TE KUNENGA KI PŪREHUROA



Supply Chain Coordination Conceptual Model adapted from Usuga et al. (2012)

Bahlmann & Spiller (2009) define the following supply chain coordination dimensions:



Dimensions of supply chain coordination (Bahlmann & Spiller, 2009)



MASSEY UNIVERSITY te kunenga ki pūrehuroa

Chain harmonisation, involves multiple functions, group aligning systems and processes together to achieve a common goal. This suggests that standardisation is a key technique of chain harmonisation that can lead to efficiency and lowering of costs. For example, the International Organisation for Standardisation (ISO) lays down general nonspecific requirements for quality management systems.

IT integration is the process of creating an information system that includes a customized programming or application and integrating it with new or existing hardware. Most organisations require an external contractor for the implementation phase of system development, due to the technical expertise required.

Communication is the act of conveying information from one entity to another. Every communication involves a source, a communicator and a receiver. However, it should be considered that with globalisation, communication has become more difficult due to language barriers, time zones and culture differences.

Collective learning is necessary to detect vulnerabilities and manage critical processes within the supply chain. Organizations achieve this by appropriately sharing, storing, accumulating and benchmarking information across the supply chain.

Trust building is a difficult task, since in a highly competitive environment, organisations may have multiple competitors within their sector. However, if openness through data sharing across supply chains is desired, then a degree of trust will be required between the business partners.

Incentives can be defined as an objective that incites or tends to incite determination or action. Therefore, incentives and sanctions are important instruments of supply chain coordination.







Collaborative Supply Chain Planning

Collaborative Supply chain planning is a broad concept with several definitions. Simatupang and Sridharan (2002) define collaborative supply chain planning as relationships developed by supply chain members to accomplish organization and supply chain goals and other mutual benefits. These benefits include lowering costs and risks as major factors of effective supply chain integration. definition entails a network The of organizations that agree to work together mutually, creating an efficient value of goods and services provided. Barratt (2014) defines collaborative supply chain planning as an interfirm partnership established to enhance a collaborative environment to obtain organizational benefits such as pooling and spreading risks, cost-sharing activities, access to resource distribution and specialization of resources. The definition intertwines with a collaborative supply management approach that focusses on coordination and strategic practices within and outside the organization. The goal of collaborative supply chain management is to enhance long-term performance within the supply chain. Researchers agree that in supply chains knowledge is power, sharing of information within a supply chain enhances knowledge and improves effective management, hence

lowering the levels of inventory and costs for warehousing and transportation. The processes of collaborative planning, forecasting and replenishment (as shown in the figure on the next page) has been identified as a productive management concept that provides supply chain collaboration and visibility (Attaran & Attaran, 2007).



MASSEY UNIVERSITY TE KUNENGA KI PŪREHUROA



Collaborative activities within supply chain management (Attaran & Attaran, 2007)

There are six models used in supply chain planning, namely, (1) the continuous flow model, (2) the efficient chain model, (3) the agile model, (4) the flexible model, (5) the fast chain model and (6) the custom-configured model. Regardless of which model is pursued, they are all supported by three underlying principles. First, collaboration should exist in areas with a solid footing and synergising on strengths. Second, partners should be selected based on strategic goals, capabilities and potential in value. Third, organizations should invest in people and infrastructure. People, in this case, include employees, investors, suppliers and stakeholders who indirectly impact an organization. Likewise, without infrastructure there is no supply chain. Infrastructure acts as a common means for the distribution of goods and services to end-users for customer satisfaction. Infrastructure also involves advancement in technology which enhances а collaborative supply chain integration.

A recent case study by Cheng (2018) indicates that the NZ wool industry lacks an efficient real-

time information sharing system. For collaborative supply chain planning, an organization needs to keep parties in the supply chain well informed.

Closely related, the industry also lacks end-toend visibility. This introduces risks when the industry lacks adequate information on overseas companies who might face financial challenges or mismatches in relation to capacity and forecasting (Cheng, 2018). A document from Lincoln University (2016) states that farmers are trading directly with exporters and manufacturers. It has been recorded that, due to the cost of wool, some merino farmers, who supply superfine wool direct to apparel businesses, are stockpiling wool until the prices rise (Marshall, 2020). However, once the wool enters the supply chain, it has a smooth transition from supplier to consumer. This suggests that parts of the New Zealand wool industry do carry out collaborative planning and demand forecasting. However, apart from export and sale price data, it can be argued that there is little analysis of data that could help to streamline the wool supply chain.



<image>

Integrated Supply Chain Risk Management

Supply chain risk management is a collaborative effort to reduces total supply chain vulnerability (Goh, Lim & Meng, 2007 as cited by Ho, Zheng, Yildiz & Talluri, 2015). In order for supply chain risk management to be efficient, the industry needs to have collaboration and coordination between all partners inside the chain. Ho et al define supply chain risk management quite well as *"an interorganisational collaborative endeavour utilising* quantitative and qualitative risk management methodologies to identify, evaluate, mitigate and monitor unexpected macro and micro level events or conditions, which might adversely impact any part of supply chain". Craighead et al. (2007) found that organisations with good risk management routines can swiftly recover from hurdles and generate understanding to further mitigate future disruptions.



Approaches for managing risks in a supply chain (Mokhtar, Shah, & Puan, 2016)

MASSEY UNIVERSITY te kunenga ki pūrehuroa

Following the 2009 framework provided by theOrganisation for Economic Co-operation andDevelopment(OECD), risk managementstrategies can be categorised into three classes:

Risk Reduction: Strategies that reduce the probability of a risk from occurring,

Risk Mitigation: Strategies that reduce the extent of the existing damage/s, and

Risk Coping: Reduces the effects while living with the eventualities of a risk.

Aside from the identification of risks and the institutional level where the risk takes place, the mapping of risk strategies is also dependent on three layers of risks — Normal, Market and Catastrophic (Melyukhina, 2011).

The Normal Layer of risk is managed at the Farm Household/Community Level, having a high probability of occurring with low damage. At this level, farmers are able to control risks through on-farm techniques or general financial mechanisms like credit, tax and security systems. The Market Layer involves economic risk transactions that are managed through market insurance, input and output market contracting, vertical integration, or risk among co-operatives. pooling Finally. **Catastrophic Level** risks include biosecurity risks and risks that are brought about by natural calamities. Risks at this level necessitate action from the public and entails government policies (Melyukhina, 2011). Bandaly et al. (2014) argue that a risk can either be transferred to another party, shared with another party or it can simply be accepted as it is.

New Zealand farmers, specifically those in the meat and wool sectors, encounter diverse agricultural supply chain risks that stem from the occurrence of natural and climatic risks (i.e. drought, floods, storms, hail, frosts and heavy snowfalls), health of animals, presence of pests and diseases, shifting market conditions, government policies, and social or personal affairs (Melyukhina, 2011). Also, market risks, output and input price changes and the global economic conditions are major sources of risk in the agricultural industry (Melyukhina, 2011). Two additional risks include accidents and health problems of workers, and financial risks associated with credit and land market conditions. A study conducted in 2005 shows interest rate risks to be one of the top five risks that farmers may face (Melyukhina, 2011). To provide solutions to these issues, understanding the concept of risk management and the ability to effectively apply risk management strategies in New Zealand's wool industry is critical to supply chain improvement.





Measuring Supply Chain Performance and Benchmarking

Companies and business organizations are in search of integrated systems that will lead to overall improvements in their operations and management through identifying issues and opportunities, monitoring actual performance alongside plans, and allocating essential resources to fulfil their goals (Schreurs & Moreau, 2007). Supply chain performance includes all extended activities that meet the requirements of end-customers which includes product availability, on-time delivery, as well as the essential inventory and capacity along the supply chain to be able to deliver that performance in a responsive manner (Harrison, Lee & Neale, 2004). In order to manage supply chain activities, a measurement process is needed to define and track the performance of each occurring component and examine how they are interrelated to each other. Supply chain performance measurement is a system that is able to holistically assess the degree, quality, value, or effect of a supply chain performance (Putri, Huda & Sinulingga, 2019).

To aid the performance measurement process in supply chains, performance assessment models are needed to clarify the boundaries of performance measurement. specify performance dimensions, and describe the correlations among these dimensions (Rouse & Putterill, 2003 as cited by Folan & Browne, 2005). Frameworks of performance specifically measurement, the European Foundation for Quality Management (EFQM) and Balanced Score Card (BSC), are two examples of business models that strive to assess performance dimensions in supply chains.

The EFQM model shown in the figure below was developed with the aim of understanding performance management through a systems perspective (Nalwoga & Dijk, 2016). It is a nonprescriptive framework that strives for continuous quality improvement which may be utilised by any organisation, regardless of its size, industry, maturity or structure (Vallejo et

MASSEY UNIVERSITY te kunenga ki pūrehuroa

al., 2006). The EFQM theoretical framework entails nine criteria that an organisation should measure itself against as they assess their development for continuous improvement (Schreurs & Moreau, 2007). These criteria are divided into two groups, Enablers and Results. The Enabler group is concerned with the organisation's key activities and what it can manage: Leadership, People Management, Policy and Strategy, Resources, and Processes. The Result group, on the other hand, represents the results that an organisation will achieve, namely: People Results, Customer Satisfaction, Impact on Society, and Key Performance Results (Vallejo et al., 2006). Moreover, spanning across these groups are People (employees), Customer and Society Satisfaction, which are the ultimate operational measures of excellence of any organisation. Such results could be attained through the Leadership ability of the organisation to implement sound policies and strategies coupled with effective management of people (i.e. labour force), and utilise resources (financial and material) into appropriate processes (Nalwoga & Dijk, 2016)



European Foundation for Quality Management (EFQM) Model

LEARNING, CREATIVITY AND INNOVATION

Similarly, the term "benchmark" alludes to measurements and a systematic method of finding the best practices, innovative ideas and efficiencies that bring about continuous improvement (McNair & Leibfried, 1992, Spendolini, 1992, , Bhutta & Faizul, 1999, Bogan & Callahan, 2001 as cited by Peng Wong & Yew Wong, 2008).

The performance and activities along the wool supply chain can be evaluated in terms of the following aspects: Logistics, Pricing, Inventory Levels, Product Design, Procurement and Purchasing, Production, Distribution, Demand, and Competitive Positioning. However, information on the various activities along the wool supply chain are fragmented and may be difficult to collate and analyse effectively.

Supply chain benchmarking will allow the NZ wool Industry to assess performance and modify processes to remain competitive. While the benchmarking procedure might take some time, effort and resources, it offers a sector with unique knowledge about business activities, views, possibilities and weaknesses.



MASSEY UNIVERSITY TE KUNENGA KI PŪREHUROA

Different levels of Benchmarking are:

Internal: tactical benchmarking with an emphasis on operations. This makes it possible to compare and contrast how processes operate in firms with various facilities, divisions, or branches. In one organization, for instance, compare three distinct warehouses.

External: A purposeful degree of benchmarking, which exposes an enterprise to

other approaches and procedures outside its own industry. Such benchmarking typically needs an advisory company to do adequate research.

Competitor: Compares the operating performance of a firm with that of competitors. Rivals are unlikely to share their knowledge of best industry practices, therefore making the use of industry-standard measures a possibility.





Conclusion

Supply chain integration is an extremely complex concept that poses numerous challenges to supply chains; *so* numerous that many do not even consider it as an option. Integration involves many aspects such as coordination, collaboration and planning in order to align processes and functions between all supply chain participants. It is evident that in today's highly competitive and globalized marketplace, businesses are continuously seeking strategies to optimize their benefits while keeping their costs minimal. As a strategy, supply chain integration provides companies with the ability to achieve product innovations, streamlined transportation structure, a resilient and robust supply chain, and agile operational planning.

The New Zealand wool industry has a long and rich history. It has developed a rich culture and credence that will support the supply chain in the future. The industry has reasonably well established supply chain collaboration and coordination, nonetheless, reliable data within the supply chain is seldom shared to allow for broader analytics and system improvement. It is recommended that information power is better understood within the wool industry. It is also recommended that the wool supply chain becomes more transparent to enable good data collection for collaboration. This could reduce waste and allow for external parties to invest or inovate with more confidence.

The wool industry remains vulnerable to future risks, some of these risks are worsened due to a lack of teamwork, sharing of information and a lack of leadership that spans across the supply chain. Supply chain risk management is seen as a collaborative and coordinated management between partners with the aim of promoting profitability to the members along the chain. It can be assumed that a supply chain is well integrated when the chain partners have the ability to collectively deal with risks. To deal effectively with supply chain risks, organizations need to collectively forecast and identify these risks, collaborate, negotiate, synchronise, measure performance, and share common values and goals.



November 2020, Massey University



MASSEY UNIVERSITY TE KUNENGA KI PŪREHUROA



STUDY QUALITY MANAGEMENT OR SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT WHILE YOU WORK

These qualifications are structured in block courses, making it easy for persons in the workplace to further their studies

ର୍ଚ୍ଚଚ

Graduate Diploma in Logistics and Supply Chain Management

చిసి

Postgraduate Diploma in Supply Chain Management

Postgraduate Diploma in Quality Systems

Master of Supply Chain Management

Master of Quality Systems

Employees from across New Zealand attend Massey's Supply Chain Management Programme to further their careers while they work

2

Logistics and Supply Chain Fundamentals, Logistics Operations, Supply Chain Integration, Global Logistics, International Supply Chain Management, Transportation Systems, Buying and Category Management, Supply Chain Trends and Applications, Purchasing and Supply Management, Demand Chain Management, Supply Chain Analytics, Executive Supply Chain Management, Value Chain Management, Research Methods and Skills, Integrated Logistics, International Food and Agribusiness Strategies, Financial Management, Quality Improvement, Quality System Development and Management*

All our formal assessments are project base with no exams or tests

*Cross-credit opportunities are available in all courses for students who have studied aspects of Supply Chain Management before



"I am a full-time worker in a very busy role. I was not confident how I could cope with my studies at Uni while working full-time. Studying while still working is hard going, but I am fine because of the block courses. I really enjoy this, it's very interesting and helpful to my current role at work. The block course means that I do not need to go to the class every week and allows me to focus fully on my studies in the appointed times."



MASSEY UNIVERSITY TE KUNENGA KI PŪREHUROA

Bibliography

- About the Organizational Culture Assessment Instrument (OCAI). Ocai-online.com. (2021). Retrieved 19 September 2021, from https://www.ocaionline.com/about-the-Organizational-Culture-Assessment-Instrument-OCAI.
- Adair, W. L., Okumura, T., & Brett, J. M. (2001). Negotiation behavior when cultures collide: the United States and Japan. Journal of Applied Psychology, 86(3), 371.
- Alee. (2016, May 12). Vertical vs. horizontal integration [Web log post]. Retrieved from https://ushap201516.blogspot.com/2016/05/vertic al-vs-horizontal-integration.html
- Alegbeleye, I. D., & Kaufman, E. K. (2020). Relationship between middle managers' transformational leadership and effective followership behaviors in organizations. Journal of Leadership Studies, 13(4), 6-19.
- Alfalla-Luque, R., Medina-Lopez, C., & Dey, P. K. (2013). Supply chain integration framework using a literature review. Production Planning & Control, 24(8-9), 800-817.
- Al-Mutawah, K., Lee, V., & Cheung, Y. (2007). Corporate culture: a new challenge to e-supply chain management systems. International Conference on Enterprise Information Systems, 279-282. https://doi.org/10.5220/0002364602790282
- Anaplan. (2019). 5 steps to connected supply chain planning. https://www.anaplan.com/blog/5-stepsto-smart-supply-chain-planning/
- Anurodhsingh Khanuja, & Rajesh Kumar Jain. (2019). Supply chain integration: a review of enablers, dimensions and performance. Benchmarking: An international journal, 27 (1), 264-301. https://doi.org/10.1108/BJJ-07-2018-0217
- Arshinder, K., Kanda, A., & Deshmukh, S.G. (2011). A Review on Supply Chain Coordination: Coordination Mechanisms, Managing Uncertainty and Research Directions.
- Arshinder, Kanda, A., & Deshmukh, S. G. (2007). Coordination in supply chains: An evaluation using fuzzy logic. Production Planning & Control, 18(5), 420-435. doi:10.1080/09537280701430994
- Asnordin, N. A., Sundram, V. P. K., & Noranee, S. (2021). The Influence of Supply ChainIntegration Towards Supply Chain Performance in Manufacturing Firms. International Journal of Academic Research in Accounting Finance and Management Sciences, 11(1), 350-362.
- Astin, A. W., & Astin, H. S. (2000). Leadership reconsidered: Engagiong higher education in social challenge (444437). Retrieved from Kellogg Foundation website:
- https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED444437.pdf Atlas of economic complexity (2019). What did New Zealand export in 2019?

- URL:https://atlas.cid.harvard.edu/explore?country =166&product=undefined&year=2019&productCla ss=HS&target=Product&partner=undefined&nodeS izing=None&startYear=undefined
- Attaran, M., & Attaran, S. (2007). Collaborative supply chain management. Business Process Management Journal, 13(3), 390-404. doi:10.1108/14637150710752308
- Auriol, E., & Schilizzi, S. G. M. (2015). Quality signaling through certification in developing countries. Journal of Development Economics, 116, 105–121. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdeveco.2015.03.007\
- Australian Wool Innovation Limited. (n.d.). Wool characteristics. Retrieved from https://www.wool.com/marketintelligence/woolcheque/wool-characteristics/
- Australian Wool International Limited. (n.d.). Fostering wool industry leaders. Retrieved from https://www.wool.com/about-awi/mediaresources/news/fostering-wool-industry-leaders/
- Australian Wool Testing Authority. (1986). Vegetable matter in Australian wool. Retrieved from Woolwise website: https://www.awtawooltesting.com.au/index.php/e
 - n/resources/awta-forms/resources/brochures-andhandbooks/vegetable-matter-in-australian-wool
- Bagais, O., & Aljaaidi, K. S. (2020). Empirical investigation of the associations of technological capability, logistics capability and supply chain management strategies with competitive advantage: Evidence from Saudi manufacturers. Uncertain Supply Chain Management, 8(2020), 799-804. https://doi.org/10.5267/j.uscm.2020.6.007
- Bagchi, P. K., Ha, B. C., Skjoett-Larsen, T., & Soerensen, L.
 B. (2005). Supply chain integration: a European survey. The International Journal of Logistics Management, 16(2), 275-294. https://doi.org/10.1108/09574090510634557
- Bagchi, P.K., & Skjoett-Larsen, T. (2002). Organizational integration in supply chains: a contingency approach. Global Journal of Flexible Systems Management, 3(1), 1-10.
- Bahlmann, J., & Spiller, A. (2009). The effect of institutional innovations on food chain governance: A case study on the shifting role of the German QS system from certification to supply chain coordination. Journal on Chain and Network Science, 9(2), 89-103. doi:10.3920/jcns2009.x173
- Balakrishnan, A., & Geunes, J. (2004). Collaboration and coordination in supply chain management and ecommerce. Production and Operations Management, 13(1), 1-2.
- Bandaly, D., Satir, A., & Shanker, L. (2014). Integrated supply chain risk management via operational methods and financial instruments. International Journal of Production Research, 52(7), 2007-2025.



MASSEY UNIVERSITY TE KUNENGA KI PŪREHUROA

- Banomyong, R (2018), "Collaboration in Supply Chain Management: A Resilience Perspective", International Transport Forum Discussion Papers, OECD Publishing, Paris.
- Barratt, M. (2004). Understanding the meaning of collaboration in the supply chain. Supply Chain Management: An International Journal, 9(1), 30-42. doi:10.1108/13598540410517566
- BBC News. (2021, July 7). Ever Given: Ship that blocked Suez Canal sets sail after deal signed. Retrieved from https://www.bbc.com/news/world-middleeast-57746424

Beef and Lamb New Zealand. (2017). Welfare of sheep and beef cattle. Retrieved from https://beeflambnz.com/your-levies-atwork/welfare-sheep-and-beef-cattle

Beef and Lamb New Zealand. (2021). Use of hormonal growth Promotants (HGPs). Retrieved from https://beeflambnz.com/compliance/foodsafety/use-hormonal-growth-promotants-hgps

- Belaya, V., & Henrich, J. (2011). POWER AND SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT – INSIGHTS FROM RUSSIA.
- Bibeau, G., & Corin, E. E. (1995). From submission to the text to interpretive violence. Beyond Textuality, 3-54. doi:10.1515/9783110903010.3

Bowersox D. J., Closs D. J. and Stank T. P. (1999). 21st century logistics: Making supply chain integration a reality. Michigan State University, Council of Logistics Management.

Brito, R., & Miguel, P. (2017). Power, governance, and value in collaboration: Differences between buyer and supplier perspectives. Journal Of Supply Chain Management, 53(2), 61-87.

https://doi.org/10.1111/jscm.12134 Burry, M. (2021). Rock bottom crossbred wool prices pose a dilemma for farmers. Retrieved 4 September 2021, from https://www.stuff.co.nz/business/farming/300046 126/rock-bottom-crossbred-wool-prices-posedilemma-for-farmers

Busari, A. H., Khan, S. N., Abdullah, S. M., & Mughal, Y. H. (2019). Transformational leadership style, followership, and factors of employees' reactions towards organizational change. Journal of Asia Business Studies.

Busse, C., Kach, A., & Wagner, S. (2017). Boundary conditions: What they are, how to explore them, why we need them, and when to consider them. SSRN Electronic Journal, 12(7), 66-70. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2713980

Cadden, T., Marshall, D., & Cao, G. (2013). Opposites attract: organisational culture and supply chain performance. Supply Chain Management: An International Journal, 18(1), 86–103. https://doi.org/10.1108/13598541311293203

Cameron, H. (2021, April 7). Farmers take up resilience planning for future droughts. RNZ. Retrieved from https://www.rnz.co.nz/news/country/439963/farm ers-take-up-resilience-planning-for-future-droughts

- Cameron, K. An Introduction to the Competing Values Framework. Thercfgroup.com. Retrieved 19 September 2021, from https://www.thercfgroup.com/files/resources/an_i ntroduction_to_the_competing_values_framework .pdf.
- Cao, M., Vonderembse, M. A., Zhang, Q., & Ragu-Nathan, T. S. (2010). Supply chain collaboration: conceptualisation and instrument development. International Journal of Production Research, 48(22), 6613-6635.

Carnevale, P. J. D., & Isen, A. M. (1986). The influence of positive affect and visual access on the discovery of integrative solutions in bilateral negotiation. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 37(1), 1-13.

Carrfields (2020). Primary Wool Co-Operative and Wools of New Zealand commit to work Together to Rejuvenate New Zealand's Strong Wool Sector. Retrieved from

https://www.carrfields.co.nz/primary-wool-cooperative-and-wools-of-new-zealand-commit-towork-together-to-rejuvenate-new-zealands-strongwool-sector/

Champion, S. C., & Fearne, A. P. (2001). Alternative marketing systems for the apparel wool textile supply chain: Filling the communication vacuum. The International Food and Agribusiness Management Review, 4(3), 237-256. doi:10.1016/s1096-7508(02)00070-8

Chen, L., Jia, F., Li, T., & Zhang, T. (2021). Supply chain leadership and firm performance: a meta-analysis. International Journal of Production Economics, 235, 1-12.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2021.108082 Cheng, J. (2018). Inter-organizational relationships and information sharing in supply chains. International Journal Of Information Management, 31(4), 374-384.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2010.09.004

Childerhouse, P., & Towill, D. R. (2011). Arcs of supply chain integration. International Journal of Production Research, 49(24), 7441–7468. doi:10.1080/00207543.2010.52425

Childerhouse, P., Deakins, E., Bohme, T., Towill, D. R., Disney, S. M., & Banomyong, R. (2011). Supply chain integration: An international comparison of maturity. Asia Pacific Journal of Marketing and Logistics, 23(4), 531-552. doi:10.1108/13555851111165075

Chopra, S., & Meindl, P. (2013). Coordination in a supply chain. Supply Chain Management Strategy, Planning and Operation (5th ed.). Pearson Education Ltd.

- Chopra, S., & Meindl, P. (2016). Supply chain management: strategy, planning, and operation (Sixth Edition). Pearson. Chapter 10: Coordination in a supply chain.
- Ciotti, M., Ciccozzi, M., Terrinoni, A., Jiang, W. C., Wang, C. B., & Bernardini, S. (2020). The COVID-19

pandemic. Critical reviews in clinical laboratory sciences, 57(6), 365-388.

Cohen, S., & Roussel, J. (2005). Strategic supply chain management. McGraw-Hill.

Conforte, D., Dunlop, S., & Garnevska, E. (2011). New Zealand wool inside: a discussion case study. International Food and Agribusiness Management Review, 14(1030-2016-82797), 147-178.

Connelly, B., Ketchen, D., & Hult, G. (2013). Global supply chain management: Toward a theoretically driven research agenda. Global Strategy Journal, 3(3), 227-243. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2042-5805.2013.01041.x

Cox, A. (2001). Understanding buyer and supplier power: A framework for procurement and supply competence. Journal of Supply Chain Management, 37, 8–15.

Craighead, C. W., Blackhurst, J., Rungtusanatham, M. J., & Handfield, R. B. (2007). The severity of supply chain disruptions: Design characteristics and mitigation capabilities. Decision Sciences, 38(1), 131-156. doi:10.1111/j.1540-5915.2007.00151.x

Cutcher-Gershenfeld, J., McKersie, R. B., & Walton, R. E. (1995). Pathways to change: Case studies of strategic negotiations. Kalamazoo, MI: WE Upjohn Institute for Employment Research.

Darby, M. R., & Karni, E. (1973). Free competition and the optimal amount of fraud. The Journal of Law and Economics, 16(1), 67-88. doi:10.1086/466756

Defee, C.C., (2007). Supply chain leadership.

DeGroote, S. E., & Marx, T. G. (2013). The impact of IT on supply chain agility and firm performance: An empirical investigation. International Journal of Information Management, 33(6), 909-916.

Dentoni, D. (2009). Branding agri-food products with credence attributes. michigan state university.

Dentoni, Domenico & Tonsor, Glynn & Calantone, Roger & Peterson, H.. (2012). The Direct and Indirect Effects of "Locally Grown" on Consumers' Attitudes Towards Agri-Food Products. Agricultural and Resource Economics Review. 38. 10.1017/S1068280500009631.

Department of Justice, Canada. (2007, February 11). Negotiation - Dispute prevention and resolution services (1). Retrieved from Dispute Prevention and Resolution Services website: https://www.justice.gc.ca/eng/rp-pr/csj-sjc/dprssprd/res/drrg-mrrc/03.html

Deshpande, R., & Webster Jr., F. E. (1989). Organizational Culture and Marketing: Defining the Research Agenda. Journal of Marketing, 53(1), 3–15. https://doi.org/10.1177/002224298905300102

Diabat, A., Govindan, K., & Panicker, V. V. (2012). Supply chain risk management and its mitigation in a food industry. International Journal of Production Research, 50(11), 3039-3050.

doi:10.1080/00207543.2011.588619

Donald, R. (2020, August 7). Where does New Zealand sit in the world of wool? PH Wealth. Retrieved from



MASSEY UNIVERSITY TE KUNENGA KI PŪREHUROA

https://www.phwealth.co.nz/knowledge/wheredoes-new-zealand-sit-in-the-world-of-wool

- Dowty, R. A., & Wallace, W. A. (2010). Implications of organizational culture for supply chain disruption and restoration. International Journal of Production Economics, 126(1), 57-65.
- Drea, J. T., Bruner, G. C., & Hinsch, P. J. (1993). Comparing alternative measures of the French and Raven power types. Journal of Personal Selling and Sales Management, 8, 73–80.

Durcevic, S. (2021, March 23). The top 15 supply chain metrics & KPIs for your dashboards [Web log post]. Retrieved from https://www.datapine.com/blog/supply-chainmetrics-and-kpis/

Edwards, S. (2021). Strong will to lift wool returns. Feds News. URL: https://www.fedsnews.co.nz/strongwill-to-lift-wool-returns/

Fabbe-Costes, N., & Jahre, M. (2008). Supply chain integration and performance: a review of the evidence. The International Journal of Logistics Management.

Farrell, L. J. (2020). Bio-economic system-dynamics modelling to investigate strategic management options in New Zealand sheep farming enterprises (Doctoral dissertation, Massey University, Manuwatu, New Zealand). Retrieved from https://mro.massey.ac.nz/bitstream/handle/10179 /16058/FarrellPhDThesis.pdf?sequence=1&isAllow ed=y

Faulkner, S. (2012). Hello New Zealand wool – this is the future speaking. Nuffield New Zealand. https://www.dropbox.com/s/6l5355kbnik16vq/201 2-Sandra-Faulkner.pdf?dl=0

Fawcett, S. E., Magnan, G. M., & McCarter, M. W. (2008). Benefits, barriers, and bridges to effective supply chain management. Supply chain management: An international journal.

Ferris, T. L. (2004). A new definition of measurement. Measurement, 36(1), 101-109. doi:10.1016/j.measurement.2004.03.001

Feyissa, T.T., Sharma, R.R.K. and Lai, K.-K. (2019), "The impact of the core company's strategy on the dimensions of supply chain integration", The International Journal of Logistics Management, Vol. 30 No. 1, pp. 231-260.

https://doi.org/10.1108/IJLM-03-2017-0080 Financial Education from Poverty and Prosperity. (n.d.). Financial negotiations communicate with confidence. Retrieved from

https://www.microfinanceopportunities.org/downl oad.php?download=aHR0cHM6Ly93d3cubWljcm9 maW5hbmNlb3Bwb3J0dW5pdGllcy5vcmcvd3AtY2 9udGVudC91cGxvYWRzLzIwMTMvMTIvRmluYW5ja WFsLU5lZ290aWF0aW9uLUNvbmVudC1Ob3RlLnBk Zg==

Flaws, B. (2020, September 4). Wool collaboration: Boost for farmers or 'completely nuts'? Stuff. Retrieved from

https://www.stuff.co.nz/business/farming/122575

234/wool-collaboration-boost-for-farmers-orcompletely-nuts

- Fliedner, G. (2003). CPFR: An emerging supply chain tool. Industrial Management & Data Systems, 14-21
- Flynn, B. B., Huo, B., & Zhao, X. (2010). The impact of supply chain integration on performance: A contingency and configuration approach. Journal of operations management, 28(1), 58-71.
- Folan, P., & Browne, J. (2005). A review of performance measurement: Towards performance management. Computers in Industry, 56(7), 663– 680. doi:10.1016/j.compind.2005.03.001
- Food Print. (2019, April 23). Animal feed. Retrieved from https://foodprint.org/issues/animal-feed/
- Freije, I., de la Calle, A., Ugarte, J. V. (2021). Role of supply chain integration in the product innovation capability of servitized manufacturing companies. Technovation, 102216.
- French, J. R. P., Jr., & Raven, B. (1959). The bases of social power. In D. Cartwright (Ed.), Studies in social power (pp. 150–167). Univer. Michigan
- Georgise, F. B., Thoben, K. D., & Seifert, M. (2014). Supply chain integration in the manufacturing firms indeveloping country: An ethiopian case study. Journal of Industrial Engineering, 2014, 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/251982
- Gill, 2021, October 8). WA wool buyers ignore big power issues in China. Farm Weekly. Retrieved from https://www.farmweekly.com.au/story/7460239/b uyers-ignore-big-power-issues-in-china/
- Glenlands Farm. (2021, February 26). Shedding sheep: Introduction and benefits. Retrieved from https://glenlandsfarm.co.nz/our-farm/sheddingsheep-introduction-and-benefits/
- Goh, M., J. Y. S. Lim, and F. Meng. 2007. "A Stochastic Model for Risk Management in Global Supply Chain Networks."European Journal of Operational Research 182: 164–173
- Google Trends. (2021b). Wool searches in New Zealand. Retrieved 17 August 2021. https://trends.google.com/trends/explore?date=to day%205-y&q=wool
- Gosling, J., Fu, J., & Yu, G. (2015). The role of supply chain leadership in the learning od sustainable practice: toward an integrated framework. Journal of Cleaner Production. https://ore.exeter.ac.uk/repository/bitstream/hand

le/10871/16753/Sustainability%20leader%20Final %20submission-

10%2010%202014.pdf?sequence=1

Granwal, L. (202, June 23). New Zealand: Sheep livestock numbers 2020. Retrieved September 15, 2021, from

https://www.statista.com/statistics/974492/new-zealand-sheep-livestock-numbers/

Gro Intelligence. (2017, March 29). Tough times for the wool industry. Retrieved from https://grointelligence.com/insights/articles/global-woolproduction-decline



MASSEY UNIVERSITY TE KUNENGA KI PŪREHUROA

- Groysberg, B., Boris Groysberg, Jeremiah Lee, Jesse Price, and J. Yo-Jud Cheng, B., Lee, J., Price, J., & Cheng, Y. (2021). The Leader's Guide to Corporate Culture. Harvard Business Review. Retrieved 9 October 2021, from https://hbr.org/2018/01/the-leadersguide-to-corporate-culture.
- Gruchmann, T., Melkonyan, A., & Krumme, K. (2018). Logistics business transformation for sustainability: assessing the role of the lead sustainability service provider (6PL). Logistics, 2(4), 25-44. https://doaj.org/article/d0f0c6a97b704e0ca75ddb 36e7bee929
- Halton, C. (2021). Credence good definition. Retrieved from

https://www.investopedia.com/terms/c/credencegood.asp

- Handfield, R. B. and Nichols, E. L. (2002). Supply chain redesign – Transforming supply chains into integrated value systems. Financial Times, Prentice-Hall, London.
- Harbi, T. A. (1995). Navy definitions of leadership and LMET/NAVLEAD competency clusters compared to selected leadership theories (Unpublished master's thesis). Naval Postgraduate School, Monterey, CA.
- Harland, C. (1997). Supply chain operational performance roles. Integrated Manufacturing Systems, 8(2), 70-78. https://doi.org/10.1108/09576069710165756
- Harman, G. S. (1971). Wool and politics. The Australian Quarterly, 43(1), 40. doi:10.2307/20634418
- Harrison, A. (2008). Logistics management and strategy: Competing through the supply chain (3rd ed.). Prentice, England.
- Harrison, T., Lee, H., & Neale, J. (2004). The Practice of Supply Chain Management: Where Theory and Application Converge (pp. 61-73).
- Hausmann, R. (2014, July 29). Why raw materials are a dangerous distraction [Forum]. Retrieved from https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2014/07/raw-material-value-wealth-ricardo-hausmann/
- Hayes, A. (2021, July 2). How empire building works. Retrieved September 14, 2021, from https://www.investopedia.com/terms/e/empirebui lding.asp
- Hides, M. T., Davies, J., & Jackson, S. (2004).
 Implementation of EFQM excellence model selfassessment in the UK higher education sector – lessons learned from other sectors. The TQM Magazine, 16(3), 194–201.
 doi:10.1108/09544780410532936
- Hill, C. A., Zhang, G. P., & Miller, K. E. (2018). Collaborative planning, forecasting, and replenishment & firm performance: An empirical evaluation. International journal of production economics, 196, 12-23.
- Ho, W., Zheng, T., Yildiz, H., & Talluri, S. (2015). Supply chain risk management: a literature review. International Journal of Production Research, 53(16), 5031–5069. doi:10.1080/00207543.2015.1030467



MASSEY UNIVERSITY TE KUNENGA KI PŪREHUROA

- Horvath, L. (2001). Collaboration: key to value creation in supply chain management. Supply Chain Management: An International Journal, 6(5), 205-207.
- Hua, G., & Wu, Y. (2006, June). Measurement integration under inconsistency for robust tracking. In 2006
 IEEE Computer Society Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition (CVPR'06) (Vol. 1, pp. 650-657). IEEE.
- Hudleson, P. (2004). Culture and quality: an anthropological perspective. International Journal for Quality in Healthcare, 16(5), 345-346. https://doi.org/10.1093/intqhc/mzh076
- Huo, B. (2012). The impact of supply chain integration on company performance: an organizational capability perspective. Supply Chain Management: An International Journal.
- Huo, B., Flynn, B. B., & Zhao, X. (2017). Supply chain power configurations and their relationship with performance. Journal of Supply Chain Management, 53(2), 88-111.
- Hur, D., Hartley, J. L., & Hahn, C. K. (2006). An exploration of supply chain structure in Korean companies. International Journal of Logistics, 7(2), 151-164. https://doi.org/10.1080/13675560410001694165
- Hyson, C. (2014). Maladjustments in the wool industry and need for new policy. Journal Of Farm Economics, 29(2), 425-456. https://doi.org/10.2307/1232386
- IBISWorld Industry Market Research, Reports, and Statistics. Ibisworld.com. (2021). Retrieved 27 August 2021, from https://www.ibisworld.com/nz/industry/woolwholesaling/340/.
- International Wool Textile Organisation. (n.d.). 02 Wool Notes [PDF]. Retrieved from https://iwto.org/wpcontent/uploads/2020/04/IWTO_Wool-Notes-Web-min.pdf
- Jacobs, E., & Mafini, C. (2019). Transactional leadership, supply chain quality and business performance in the fast-moving consumer goods industry. Journal Of Transport And Supply Chain Management, 13(2019), 1-13.
- https://doi.org/10.4102/jtscm.v13i0.442 James Jr., H. (2013). The Ethics and Economics of
- Agrifood Competition. Dordrecht: Springer. Joe, A. (2019). The importance of supply chain
- collaboration. Supply Technologies. http://www.supplytechnologies.com/blog/theimportance-of-supply-chain-collaboration
- John E. Mello, & Theodore P. Stank. (2005). Linking firm culture and orientation to supply chain success. International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management, 35(8), 542–554. https://doi.org/10.1108/09600030510623320
- Junqueira, R. V. (2010). Governance structure and supply chain management practices in the dairy value chain: a comparative study between New Zealand and Brazil: a thesis presented in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of

Logistics and Supply Chain Management at Massey University, Auckland, New Zealand (Doctoral dissertation, Massey University).

- Jüttner, U. 2005. "Supply Chain Risk Management: Understanding the Business Requirements from a Practitioner Perspective."The International Journal of Logistics Management 16: 120–141
- Kanda, A., & Deshmukh, S. G. (2008). Supply chain coordination: perspectives, empirical studies and research directions. International journal of production Economics, 115(2), 316-335.
- Katunzi, T. M. (2011). Obstacles to process integration along the supply chain: manufacturing firm's perspective. International Journal of Business and Management, 6, 105–113.
- Kelly et al. (2005). New versions and uses for wool. Proceedings of the New Zealand Society of animal production. Vol 65
- Kenton, W. (2021). How negotiations work. Retrieved from
 - https://www.investopedia.com/terms/n/negotiatio n.asp
- Kenton, W. (2021, May 3). Horizontal integration. Retrieved September 13, 2021, from https://www.investopedia.com/terms/h/horizontal integration.asp
- Kilsby, S. (2021). With wool prices at rock bottom, the only way is up. News.anz.com. Retrieved 8 October 2021, from https://news.anz.com/newzealand/posts/2021/06/wool-prices-only-way-isup.
- Krikke, H. R. (2010). The influence of power on supply chain integration (Master's thesis, Tilburg University, Tilburg, Netherlands). Retrieved from http://arno.uvt.nl/show.cgi?fid=121871
- Kumar, R. S., & Pugazhendhi, S. (2012). Information Sharing in Supply Chains: An Overview. Procedia Engineering, 38, 2147–2154. doi:10.1016/j.proeng.2012.06.2
- Lambert, D. M., & Cooper, M. C. (2000). Issues in Supply Chain Management. Industrial Marketing Management, 29(1), 65-83. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1016/S0019-8501(99)00113-3
- Lanier, D., Wempe, W., & Swink, M. (2019). Supply chain power and real earnings management: stock market perceptions, financial performance effects, and implications for suppliers. Journal of Supply Chain Management, 55(1), 48-70. https://doi.org/10.1111/jscm.12186
- Lapide, L. (2010). What about measuring supply chain performance. Achieving Supply Chain Excellence Through Technology, 2(2), 287-297.
- Lassoued, R., & Hobbs, J. (2016). Consumer confidence in credence attributes: The role of brand trust. Food Policy, 52(2015), 99-107. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodpol.2014.12.003
- Laureano Paiva, E., Teixeira, R., Marques Vieira, L., & Finger, A. (2013). Supply chain planning and trust: two sides of the same coin. Industrial Management

& Data Systems, 114(3), 405-420. https://doi.org/10.1108/IMDS-07-2013-0324

Lee, H., & Hwang, J. (2016). The driving role od consumers' perceived credence attributes in organic food purchase decisions: a comparison of two groups of consumers. Food Quality and Preference, 54, 141-151.

http://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodqual.2016.07.011

- Lee, Hau L. & Whang, Seungjin. (2001). E-Business and Supply Chain Integration. Stanford Global Supply Chain Management Forum, SGSCMF-W2-2001.
- Lee, J. Y., & Woo, S. H. (2019). The impact of power on the relationships and customer satisfaction in a logistics triad: A meta-analysis. The Asian Journal of Shipping and Logistics, 35(4), 194-199. doi:10.1016/j.ajsl.2019.12.006
- Lees, N., & Saunders, C. (2015). Maximising export returns: communicating New Zealand's credence attributes to international consumers. Agribusiness and Economics Research Unit. http://researcharchive.lincoln.ac.nz/bitstream/han dle/10182/6550/RR%20334%20MER.pdf?sequence =3
- Li, S., Ragu-Nathan, B., Ragu-Nathan, T. S., & Rao, S. S. (2006). The impact of supply chain management practices on competitive advantage and organizational performance. Omega, 34(2), 107-124.
- Li, Z., Xu, Y., Deng, F., & Liang, X. (2018). Impacts of power structure on sustainable supply chain management. Sustainability, 10(1), 55.
- Lincoln University. (2016). Wool Production. Retrieved from

https://equella.lincoln.ac.nz/prod/file/e1245dc5-7a0e-45d0-9a6e-

82c57d731d25/1/571%20Module%20WOOL%20PR ODUCTION%20CC%20Mar16.pdf

- Logan, P. M. (2012). On Culture: Edward B. Tylor's Primitive Culture, 1871. Branch Collective [Britain]. Retrieved from https://www.branchcollective.org/?ps_articles=pet er-logan-on-culture-edward-b-tylors-primitiveculture-1871
- Long, W., Becker, & Field, E. (2019, November 16). Wool industry leadership elections on the way amid claims of dirty tricks. ABC Rural. Retrieved from https://www.abc.net.au/news/rural/2019-11-16/wool-industry-battles-go-to-the-boardroom/11686774
- Luo, T., & Xie, R. (2021). Supply chain power and corporate environmental responsibility: mediation effects based on business performance. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 18, 1-14.

https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18179264

Maesano, G., Di Vita, G., Chinnici, G., Pappalardo, G., & D'Amico, M. (2020). The role of credence attributes in consumer choices of sustainable fish products: a review. Sustainability, 12, 1-18. https://doi.org/10.3390/su122310008



MASSEY UNIVERSITY TE KUNENGA KI PŪREHUROA

- Malhotra, D. (2019, December). Control the Negotiation Before It Begins. Harvard Business Review. Retrieved from https://hbr.org/2015/12/controlthe-negotiation-before-it-begins
- Malone, T. W. (1988). What is coordination theory? Massachusetts Institure of Technology, 1-29. Retrieved from

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/517578 0_What_is_coordination_theory

Mangan, J., & Lalwani, C. (2016). Global Logistics and Supply Chain Management, 3rd Edition (3rd ed.). John Wiley & Sons.

Marker, A. (2017, June 28). Integrated supply chain management: Horizontal and vertical. Retrieved September 12, 2021, from https://www.smartsheet.com/integrated-supplychain-management-vertical-and-horizontal

Marqui, A. C., De Moura, K. S., & Alcântara, R. L. C. (2013). Collaborative supply chain: a conceptual model for operationalisation. International Journal of Management and Decision Making, 12(3), 195-214.

Marshall, A. (2020, July 1). Farm wool stockpile trend prompts insurance alert to producers. Farm Online National. Retrieved from https://www.farmonline.com.au/story/6812722/fa rm-wool-stockpile-grows-and-so-do-clip-insurancepitfalls/

Marshall, C. (2019, September 19). Moral fibre: Why sheep farmers want Kiwis to take another look at wool. Stuff. Retrieved from https://www.stuff.co.nz/business/farming/sheep/1 26396570/moral-fibre-why-sheep-farmers-wantkiwis-to-take-another-look-at-wool

Marshall, J. (2021). Is wool sector sustainable?. Ruralnewsgroup.co.nz. Retrieved 27 August 2021, from https://www.ruralnewsgroup.co.nz/ruralnews/rural-general-news/is-wool-sectorsustainable.

Matopoulos, A., Vlachopoulou, M., Manthou, V., & Manos, B. (2007). A conceptual framework for supply chain collaboration: empirical evidence from the agri-food industry. Supply Chain Management: An International Journal, 12(3), 177-186. https://doi.org/10.1108/13598540710742491

Matsumoto, D. R. (1996). Culture and psychology. Balmont, CA: Pacific Grove : Brooks/Cole Pub. Co.

McAfee, R. B., Glassman, M., & Honeycutt Jr, E. D. (2002). The effects of culture and human resource management policies on supply chain management strategy. Journal of Business logistics, 23(1), 1-18.

Mcintosh, A. H. (1966). Wool production. In Te-Ara - The encyclopedia of New Zealand. Retrieved from http://www.TeAra.govt.nz/en/1966/woolproduction

Meehan, J., & Wright, G. H. (2012). The origins of power in buyer–seller relationships. Industrial Marketing Management, 41(4), 669-679. doi:10.1016/j.indmarman.2011.09.015

Mehrjerdi, Y. Z. (2009). The collaborative supply chain. Assembly Automation.

Mellat-Parast, M., & E. Spillan, J. (2014). Logistics and supply chain process integration as a source of competitive advantage. The International Journal of Logistics Management, 25(2), 289-314. doi:10.1108/ijlm-07-2012-0066

Mellet-Parest, M., & Spillan, J. E. (2014). Logistics and supply chain process integration as a source of competitive advantage: An empirical analysis. The International Journal of Logistics Management, 25(2), 289-314.

 Mello, J. E., & Stank, T. P. (2005). Linking firm culture and orientation to supply chain success. International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management, 35(8), 542–554. https://doi.org/10.1108/09600030510623320

Melyukhina, O. (2011). Risk Management in Agriculture in New Zealand, OECD Food, Agriculture and Fisheries Papers, No. 42, OECD Publishing, Paris. http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/5kgj0d3vzcth-en

Mentzer, J. T., DeWitt, W., Keebler, J. S., Min, S., Nix, N. W., Smith, C. D., & Zacharia, Z. G. (2001). Defining supply chain management. Journal of Business logistics, 22(2), 1-25.

Miller, S., Driver, T., Velasquez, N., & Saunders, C. (2014). Maximising Export Returns (MER): Consumer behaviour and trends for credence attributes in key markets and a review of how these may be communicated (Rep.). The Agribusiness and Economics Research Unit.

Min, S., Roath, A. S., Daugherty, P. J., Genchev, S. E., Chen, H., Arndt, A. D., & Richey, R. G. (2005). Supply chain collaboration: what's happening?. The international journal of logistics management.

Ministry for Primary Industries. (2020, September 12). Wool industry project action group. Retrieved from https://www.mpi.govt.nz/aboutmpi/structure/government-advisory-groups/woolindustry-project-action-group/

Mitchell, J. D., Smith, L. J., & Dana, L. P. (2009). The international marketing of New Zealand merino wool: past, present and future. International Journal of Business and Globalisation, 3(2), 111-122.

Mitchell, Joseph & Smith, Luke & Dana, Léo-Paul. (2019). The international marketing of New Zealand merino wool: past, present and future. International Journal of Business and Globalisation, 3(2), 111-122.

https://doi.org/10.1504/IJBG.2009.022602

Mohamad Mokhtar, A. R., Genovese, A., Brint, A., & Kumar, N. (2019). Supply chain leadership: A systematic literature review and a research agenda. International Journal of Production Economics. doi:10.1016/j.ijpe.2019.04.001

Mokhtar, A. R. M., Genovese, A., Brint, A., & Kumar, N. (2019). Supply chain leadership: A systematic literature review and a research agenda.



MASSEY UNIVERSITY TE KUNENGA KI PŪREHUROA

International Journal of Production Economics, 216, 255-273.

- Mokhtar, K., Shah, M. Z., & Puan, O. C. (2016). Risk management and supply chain: A conceptual theory in seaport. Journal Pengurusan, 48(16), 1-11.
- Mora-Monge, C., Quesada, G., Gonzalez, M. E., & Davis, J. M. (2019). Trust, power and supply chain integration in Web-enabled supply chains. Supply Chain Management: An International Journal.

Morrison, T. (2018). Millennials driving demand for wool. Retrieved from https://www.nzherald.co.nz/business/millennialsdriving-demand-for-

wool/VV5LC5TBAYPLEVHEL5PJWPHUQA/

Motovated. (2019, September 20). The genesis of Kiwi ingenuity. Retrieved from https://www.motovated.co.nz/genesis-kiwiingenuity/

Mugge, R., Dahl, D. W., & Schoormans, J. P. (2018). "What you see, is what you get?" Guidelines for influencing consumers' perceptions of consumer durables through product appearance. Journal of Product Innovation Management, 35(3), 309-329.

Mujuni Katunzi, T. (2011). Obstacles to process integration along the supply chain: Manufacturing firms perspective. International Journal of Business and Management, 6(5). doi:10.5539/ijbm.v6n5p105

Munro, T., & Childerhouse, P. (2018). Construction supply chain integration: Understanding its applicability in infrastructure asset maintenance and renewal programmes. International Journal Of Construction Supply Chain Management, 8(1), 1-18. https://doi.org/10.14424/ijcscm801018-01-18

Murali, R., Anand, S., & Kumar, R. G. (2019). Effect of internal supply chain drivers on green supply chain management attributes. International Journal Of Business Performance And Supply Chain Modelling, 10(4), 323.

https://doi.org/10.1504/ijbpscm.2019.10027442 Nalwoga, M.M. and van Dijk, M.P. (2016) 'Organisational

performance measurement models, also for poverty alleviation', Int. J. Water, Vol. 10, Nos. 2/3, pp.122–138.

Narasimhan, R., & Jayaram, J. (1998). Causal Linkages in Supply Chain Management: An Exploratory Study of North American Manufacturing Firms. Decision Sciences, 29(3), 579-605.

Nastasi, B. K., Arora, P. G., & Varjas, K. (2017). The meaning and importance of cultural construction for global development. International Journal of School & Educational Psychology, 5(3), 137-140. doi:10.1080/21683603.2016.1276810

National Library of New Zealand. (2008). Wool testing. Retrieved from International Accreditation New Zealand website:

https://ndhadeliver.natlib.govt.nz/delivery/Delivery ManagerServlet?dps_pid=IE777447



MASSEY UNIVERSITY TE KUNENGA KI PŪREHUROA

- National Research Council, Commission on Engineering and Technical Systems, Board on Manufacturing and Engineering Design, & Committee on Supply Chain Integration. (2000). Surviving Supply Chain Integration : Strategies for Small Manufacturers. National Academies Press.
- Neely, A., Gregory, M. and Platts, K. (1995), "Performance measurement systems design: a literature review and research agenda", International Journal of Operations & Production Management, Vol. 15 No. 4, pp. 80-116.
- Negotiation in Procurement | CIPS. The Chartered Institute of Procurement and Supply. (2020). Retrieved 30 October 2020, from: https://www.cips.org/knowledge/procurementtopics-and-skills/strategy-policy/negotiation/
- Neutzling, D. M., Land, A., Seuring, S., & do Nascimento, L. F. M. (2018). Linking sustainability-oriented innovation to supply chain relationship integration. Journal of Cleaner Production, 172, 3448-3458.
- New Zealand History. (2021). New Zealand's first sheep released. Retrieved from New Zealand Ministry and Culture of Herritage website: https://nzhistory.govt.nz/first-sheep-released-innew-zealand
- New Zealand Wool board, Wool industry review, URL: https://www.rbnz.govt.nz/-/media/reservebank/files/publications/bulletins/19 81/1981june44-5woolindustryreview.pdf, June, 1981.
- New Zealand Wool Testing Authority. (2018, February 21). Staple length and strength measurement for crossbred wool. Retrieved from Wright Wool website: https://wrightwool.co.nz/staple-lengthand-strength-measurement-for-crossbred-wool/ New Zealand's first sheep released', URL:
- https://nzhistory.govt.nz/first-sheep-released-innew-zealand, (Ministry for Culture and Heritage), updated 20-Jan-2021
- Norrman, A., Lindroth, R. (2002). Supply chain risk management: purchasers' vs planners' views on sharing capacity investment risks in the telecom industry. In: Proceedings of the 11th International Annual IPSERA Conference, March 25-27, pp. 577-595. Twente University.
- Old Dominion University. (2002). The Effects of Culture and Human Resource Management Policies on Supply Chain Management Strategy. Journal of Business Logistics, 23(2), 1.
- Oliveira, R., Cubo, C., Estrada, R., Fernandes, A., Afonso, P., Carvalho, M., ... Rebelo, M. (2019). A composite indicator for supply chain performance measurement: a case study in a manufacturing company. International Conference on Industrial Engineering and Engineerinng Management. https://doi.org/10.1109/IEEM44572.2019.8978598
- Ortiz, G. (2020, December 31). 10 (Yes, 10) types of wool you need to know. Retrieved from https://www.gearpatrol.com/style/a639992/wooltypes-to-know/

- Ostby, I. (n.d.). Supply Chain Leadership Report: Many Styles Generate Success. APICS Magazine Related Perspectives. Retrieved from http://www.apics.org/docs/default-source/sccnon-research/supply-chain-leadership-report--many-styles-generate-success---apicsscc.pdf?sfvrsn=2
- O'Sullivan, T. (2018). The Campaign for Wool NZ Strategy (Publication). Retrieved from https://nzwool.co.nz/wpcontent/uploads/2021/08/ The_Campaign_for_Wool_NZ_Strategy_2021-2022-compressed_v3.pdf
- Panayides, P., Borch, O.J. and Henk, A. (2018), "Measurement challenges of supply chain performance in complex shipping environments", Maritime Business Review, Vol. 3 No. 4, pp. 431-448. https://doi.org/10.1108/MABR-07-2018-0021
- Park, K., Chang, H., & Jung, D. (2017). How Do Power Type and Partnership Quality Affect Supply Chain Management Performance?. Sustainability, 9(1), 127. https://doi.org/10.3390/su9010127
- Parson, J. (2008). Supply chain relationships and value chain design. Rural leaders. URL: https://ruralleaders.co.nz/supply-chainrelationships-and-value-chain-design-jamesparsons-2008/
- Parsons, J. (2008). Supply Chain Relationships and Value Chain Design (Rep.). New Zealand Nuffield Farming Scholarship Trust.
- Pearson, A. J. (2006). Genomic technologies to create new opportunities for wool growers. Proceedings of the New Zealand Society of Animal Production, 66, 113-119. Retrieved from
- http://www.sciquest.org.nz/elibrary/author/7041 Peng Wong, W., & Yew Wong, K. (2008). A review on benchmarking of supply chain performance measures. Benchmarking: An International Journal, 15(1), 25–51. doi:10.1108/14635770810854335
- Pérez López, S., Manuel Montes Peón, J., & José Vázquez Ordás, C. (2004). Managing knowledge: The link between culture and organizational learning. Journal of Knowledge Management, 8(6), 93-104. doi:10.1108/13673270410567657
- Petersen, K. J., Ragatz, G. L., & Monczka, R. M. (2005). An examination of collaborative planning effectiveness and supply chain performance. Journal of Supply Chain Management, 41(2), 14-25.
- Peterson, H. H., Hustvedt, G. M., & Chen, Y. J. (2012). Consumer preferences for sustainable wool products in the United States. Clothing and Textiles Research Journal, 30(1), 35-50.
- Petrovic-Lazarevic, S., Sohal, A., & Baihaqi, I. (2007). Supply chain management practices and supply chain performance in the Australian manufacturing industry. Monash University Faculty of Business and Economics.
- Ponomarov, S. Y., & Holcomb, M. C. (2009). Understanding the concept of supply chain resilience. The international journal of logistics management.



MASSEY UNIVERSITY TE KUNENGA KI PŪREHUROA

- Posner, B. Z. (2010). Values and the American manager: A three-decade perspective. Journal of Business Ethics, 91(4), 457-465.
- Power, D. (2005). Supply chain management integration and implementation: a literature review. Supply Chain Management: An International Journal, 10(4), 252-263.

https://www.emerald.com/insight/content/doi/10. 1108/13598540510612721/full/html

- Prajogo, D., & Olhager, J. (2012). Supply chain integration and performance: The effects of long-term relationships, information technology and sharing, and logistics integration. International Journal of Production Economics, 135(1), 514-522.
- Primary wool cooperative limited. (2021, July 23). Primary wool cooperative merger with Wools of New Zealand. https://primarywool.co.nz/news/primary-wool-co-
- operative-merger-with-wools-of-new-zealand/ Putri, Y. D., Huda, L. N., & Sinulingga, S. (2019). The concept of supply chain management performance measurement with the supply chain operation reference model (Journal review). IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering, 505, 012011. doi:10.1088/1757-899x/505/1/012011

Puttman, C. (2007). Collaborative planning in intermodal freight transportation. Institute for Logistics and Transportation.

https://dl.gi.de/bitstream/handle/20.500.12116/22 547/62.pdf?sequence=1

- R. Dattakumar, & R. Jagadeesh. (2003). A review of literature on benchmarking. Benchmarking: An International Journal, 10(3), 176–209. https://doi.org/10.1108/14635770310477744
- Rae, S. (2020. Major strong wool bodies in formal talks on combining forces. NZ Herald. Retrieved from https://www.nzherald.co.nz/thecountry/news/major-strong-wool-bodies-in-formaltalks-on-combining-
- forces/I57WGEPXKR4EEZRSDLT6CEI7HA/ Rajaguru, R., & Matanda, M. J. (2011). Role of interorganizational compatibility and IOIS integration in large firms and SMEs retailing chains. Asia Pacific Journal of Marketing and Logistics.
- Rajaguru, R., & Matanda, M. J. (2012). Effects of interorganizational compatibility on supply chain capabilities: Exploring the mediating role of interorganizational information systems (IOIS) integration. Industrial Marketing Management, 42(4), 620-632.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2012.09.002

Ralston, P. (2014). Supply chain collaboration: A literature review and empirical analysis to investigate uncertainty and collaborative benefits in regards to their practical impact on collaboration and performance.

Raza, A. (2020, May 26). What is supply chain risk management and how to mitigate it? [Web log post]. Retrieved from https://throughput.world/blog/topic/supply-chainrisk-management/

- Reimann, F., & Ketchen, D. J. (2017). Power in Supply Chain Management. Journal Of Supply Chain Management, 53(2), 3-9. https://doi.org/10.1111/jscm.12140
- Retrieved 9 October 2021, from https://www.achievers.com/blog/organizationalculture-definition/.
- Ritchie, B., & Brindley, C. (2007). Supply chain risk management and performance: A guiding framework for future development. International Journal of Operations & Production Management.
- Robertson, P. (2017). The Relationship between Work Setting and Employee Behaviour:. Journal Of Organizational Change Management, 7(3), 22-43. https://doi.org/10.1108/09534819410063700
- Robinson, C.J., Malhotra, M.K., 2005. Defining the concept of supply chain quality management and its relevance to academic and industrial practice. International Journal of Production Economics 96, 315–337
- Rost, J. C. (1993). Leadership for the twenty-first century (Pbk. ed). Praeger.
- Rural Delivery. (2016, April). A new test for wool. Retrieved from https://www.ruraldelivery.net.nz/stories/A-New-Test-for-Wool
- Rural News. (2021, February 11). Study looks into economic impact of self-shedding sheep. Rural News. Retrieved from https://www.ruralnewsgroup.co.nz/rural-

news/rural-management/study-looks-intoeconomic-impact-of-self-shedding-sheep

- Saunders, C. M., McDonald, H., & Driver, T. (2011). Enhancing value for New Zealand farmers by improving the value chain.
- Saunders, J., & Driver, T. (2016). International trade implications for consumer attitudes to New Zealand food attributes. Lincoln University. AERU.
- Sawik, T. (2013). Selection of resilient supply portfolio under disruption risks. Omega, 41(2), 259-269.
- Schreurs, J., & Moreau, R. (2007). The EFQM Self-Assessment Model in Performance Management.
- Science Learning Hub. (2010, July 18). New Zealand sheep farming: Changing influences. Retrieved from

https://www.sciencelearn.org.nz/resources/816new-zealand-sheep-farming-changing-influences

- SGS. (2011). Labratory fleece measurements (5.2b). Retrieved from SGS Wool Testing Services website: https://www.sgs.co.nz/~/media/Local/New%20Zeal and/Documents/Technical%20Documents/Technic al%20Bulletins/Wool%20Testing%20Info%20Bulleti ns/SGS-AGRI-5-2b-Lab-Fleece-Measurements-A4-EN-11-V1
- Shah, N. U., Hashim, N. H., & Omar, N. A. (2018). Credence and personal factors as a direct cause of brand extension evaluation: Does perceived fit matter? <a;aysian Journal od consumer and family</p>

economics, 21, 1-19. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/330350 084_Credence_and_personal_factors_as_a_direct _cause_of_brand_extension_evaluation_Does_per ceived_fit_matter

- Sharif, A. M., & Irani, Z. (2012). Supply chain leadership. International Journal of Production Economics, 140(1), 57-68.
- Shepherd, C., & Gunter, H. (2006). Measuring supply chain performance: current research and future directions. International Journal of Productivity and Performance Management, 55(3/4), 242-258. https://doi.org/10.1108/17410400610653219
- Shonk, K. (2020, November 2). What is negotiation? [Web log post]. Retrieved from https://www.pon.harvard.edu/daily/negotiationskills-daily/what-is-negotiation/
- Simatupang, T. M., & Sridharan, R. (2002). The Collaborative Supply Chain. The International Journal Of Logistics Management, 13(1), 15-30. https://doi.org/10.1108/09574090210806333
- Simatupang, T. M., Wright, A. C., & Sridharan, R. (2002). The knowledge of coordination for supply chain integration. Business Process Management Journal, 8(3), 289-308. doi:10.1108/14637150210428989
- Simatupang, T., & Sridharan, R. (2004). The collaboration index: a measure for supply chain collaboration. International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management, 35(1), 44-62. https://doi.org/10.1108/09600030510577421
- Singhry, H., & Abd Rahman, A. (2018). Enhancing supply chain performance through collaborative planning, forecasting, and replenishment. Business Process Management Journal, 25(4), 625-646. https://doi.org/10.1108/bpmj-03-2017-0052
- Skills, T., & Policy, S. (2021). Negotiation in Procurement | CIPS. The Chartered Institute of Procurement and Supply. Retrieved 26 August 2021, from https://www.cips.org/knowledge/procurementtopics-and-skills/strategy-policy/negotiation/.
- Snyman, W. D., & Kroon, J. (2005). Vertical and horizontal integration of knowledge and skills–a working model. European Journal of Dental Education, 9(1), 26-31.
- Spekman, R. E., Kamauff, J. W., & Myhr, N. (2008). An empirical investigation into supply chain management: a perspective on partnerships. Supply Chain Management: An International Journal.
- Stadtler, H. (2007). A framework for collaborative planning and state-of-the-art. OR Spectrum, 31(1), 5–30. doi:10.1007/s00291-007-0104-5

Stank, T. P., Keller, S. B., & Closs, D. J. (2001). Performance benefits of supply chain logistical integration. Transportation Journal, 32-46.

Stats NZ. (2021). Livestock numbers. Retrieved from https://www.stats.govt.nz/indicators/livestocknumbers

Stevens, G. C. (1989, Jan 01). Integrating the supply chain. International Journal of Physical Distribution



MASSEY UNIVERSITY TE KUNENGA KI PŪREHUROA

& Material Managment. Integrating the Supply Chain, 19, 3-8. doi:10.1108/EUM000000000329

- Stringleman, H., & Peden, R. (2015). Sheep farming. Retrieved from https://teara.govt.nz/en/sheepfarming
- Stuff. (2021, February 21).
- https://www.stuff.co.nz/business/prosper/yourstories/300231335/finding-new-business-modelto-sell-wool-brings-new-life-to-70-years-of-familyfarming. Stuff. Retrieved from https://www.stuff.co.nz/business/prosper/yourstories/300231335/finding-new-business-modelto-sell-wool-brings-new-life-to-70-years-of-familyfarming
- Sun, Y., Zhu, Z., & Yang, H. (2021). Fairness Perception, Trust Perception, and Relationship Quality in Agricultural Supply Chains. Journal of Food Quality, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1155/2021/8817003
- Sung, H., & Kim, S. (2019). The effect of organizational culture on supply chain management in uncertain environments. Asia Pacific Journal of Marketing and Logistics. doi:10.1108/apjml-04-2018-0159
- Talluri, S. & Sarkis, J. (2001). A computational geometry approach for benchmarking. International Journal of Operations & Production Management, 21(1/2), 210-223.
- Tang, C. S. 2006a. "Perspectives in Supply Chain Risk Management."International Journal of Production Economics 103: 451–488.
- Taunton, E. (October 10, 2021). NZ sheep population down to fewer than six per person. Stuff. Retrieved from

https://www.stuff.co.nz/business/farming/116439 723/have-ewe-herd-nz-is-down-to-fewer-than-sixsheep-per-person

- Te papa museum. (1998-2007) Te Papa Exhibition [On the Sheep's Back] Wellington, New Zealand
- The Price of Wool and Economic Growth. Offsettingbehaviour.blogspot.com. (2021). Retrieved 5 September 2021, from http://offsettingbehaviour.blogspot.com/2013/05/ the-price-of-wool-and-economic-growth.html.
- Thomas, S. P., Thomas, R. W., Manrodt, K. B., & Rutner, S. M. (2013). An Experimental Test of Negotiation Strategy Effects on Knowledge Sharing Intentions in Buyer-Supplier Relationships. Journal of Supply Chain Management, 49(2), 96–113. doi:10.1111/jscm.12004
- Tipa, P. (2020, February 26). The wool industry is still facing challenges. Rural News. Retrieved from https://www.ruralnewsgroup.co.nz/ruralnews/rural-general-news/the-wool-industry-is-stillfacing-challenges
- Townsend, T., & Sette, J. (2016). Natural fibres and the world economy. In Natural fibres: advances in science and technology towards industrial applications (pp. 381-390). Springer, Dordrecht.
- Tsai, Y. (2011). Relationship between Organizational Culture, Leadership Behavior and Job Satisfaction.

BMC Health Services Research, 11(1). doi:10.1186/1472-6963-11-98

Turkulainen, V., & Ketokivi, M. (2012). Cross-functional integration and performance: what are the real benefits?. International Journal of Operations & Production Management.

Twin, A. (2020, December 22). Antitrust laws: Keeping healthy competition in the marketplace. Retrieved September 13, 2021, from https://www.investopedia.com/terms/a/antitrust.a sp

UNCTAD. (2021, April 23). Shipping during COVID-19: Why container freight rates have surged. UNCTAD. Retrieved from https://unctad.org/news/shippingduring-covid-19-why-container-freight-rates-havesurged

Usuga, M. L. R., Jaimes, W. A., & Suarez, O. E. (2012). Coordination on the agrifood supply chain. In Proceedings of World Academy of Science, Engineering, and Technology (No. 71, p. 509). World Academy of Science, Engineering, and Technology (WASET).

Uygur, A., & Sümerli, S. (2013). EFQM Excellence Model. International Review of Management and Business Research, 2(4), 980-993. doi:10.4135/9781483346366.n55

Vallejo, P., Saura, R. M., Sunol, R., Kazandjian, V., Ureña, V., & Mauri, J. (2006). A proposed adaptation of the EFQM fundamental concepts of excellence to health care based on the PATH framework. International Journal for Quality in Health Care, 18(5), 327–335. doi:10.1093/intqhc/mzl037

Ville, S. (2007). Rent seeking or market strengthening? Industry associations in New Zealand wool broking. Business History Review, 81(2), 297-321. doi:10.1017/s0007680500003378

Vision and Action for New Zealand's Wool Sector. Mpi.govt.nz. (2020). Retrieved 5 September 2021, from

https://www.mpi.govt.nz/dmsdocument/41079/dir ect.

Wang, G., Jiang, X., Yu, T., Gong, Y., & Wang, W. (2006). Research on supply shain negotiation under networked manufacturing environment. Sixth International Conference on Intelligent Systems Design and Applications, 3, 781-786. https://doi.org/10.1109/ISDA.2006.230

Wang, J., Luo, J., & Liu, Y. (2021). Agricultural cooperatives participating in vegetable supply chain integration. PLOS One, 16(6). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0253668

Weber, M. 1922. Economy and Society: An Outline of Interpretive Sociology (1978 ed.). Berkeley, CA: University of California Press

 Webster, M., Beach, M.R. & Fouweather, I. (2006), "Ebusiness strategy development: an FMCG sector case study", Supply Chain Management, Vol. 11
 No. 4, p. 353 Performance implications of transformational supply chain leadership and



MASSEY UNIVERSITY TE KUNENGA KI PŪREHUROA

followership. International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management. Wilcox, C. (2019, May 8). World must hear wool industry's positive animal welfare messages. Stock and Land. Retrieved from https://www.stockandland.com.au/story/6108656/ world-must-hear-wool-industrys-messages/ William Ho, Tian Zheng, Hakan Yildiz & Srinivas Talluri (2015) Supply chain risk management: a literature review, International Journal of Production Research, 53:16, 5031-5069, DOI: 10.1080/00207543.2015.1030467 Winhall, L. (2018, August 20). The wool industry supply chain. Retrieved from https://nzwoolscouring.co.nz/news-events/thewool-industry-supply-chain/ Wittkopf, B. J. (2008). Resource Sharing in Louisiana. Resource Sharing & Information Networks, 16(1), 103-120. https://doi.org/10.1300/j121v16n01_08 Wong, K. (2020). Organizational Culture: Definition, Importance, and Development | Engage Blog. Engage Blog. Wong, W. P., & Wong, K. Y. (2008). A review on benchmarking of supply chain performance measures. Benchmarking: An international journal. Wood, D. (2014). Interweaving in New Zealand culture: a design case study. The Journal Of New Zealand Studies, 17(2014), 58-72. https://doi.org/10.26686/jnzs.v0i17.2090 Wool Industry Project Action Group. (n.d.). Vision and Action for New Zealand's Wool Sector (Rep.). Retrieved https://www.mpi.govt.nz/dmsdocument/41079/dir ect Wool Online. (2020, June 4). Independent Wool Brokers Make Successful Transition To Online Wool Auctions. Scoop. Retrieved from https://www.scoop.co.nz/stories/BU2006/S00075/i ndependent-wool-brokers-make-successfultransition-to-online-wool-auctions.htm Wool production and processing. Teara.govt.nz. (2021). Retrieved 5 September 2021, from https://teara.govt.nz/en/meat-and-wool/page-6. Woolmark Company. (n.d.). Wool fibre - Properties, facts & benefits. Retrieved from https://www.woolmark.com/fibre/ Xu, L. D. (2020). Industrial information integration – An emerging subject in industrialization and informatization process. Journal Of Industrial Information Integration, 17(2020), 100-128. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jii.2020.100128 Yang, C.-L., Lin, S.-P., Chan, Y.-H., Kim, M. K., & Sheu, C. (2021). Dissecting supply chain integration: impact

(2021). Dissecting supply chain integration: impact of integration quality on customer-oriented performance. Total Quality Management & Business Excellence, 32(11/12), 1271–1289. https://doi.org/10.1080/14783363.2019.1696671

Yang, L. (2011). Coordination mechanisms of supply chain under decentralized decision structure. 2011 2nd International Conference on Artificial



MASSEY UNIVERSITY TE KUNENGA KI PŪREHUROA

Intelligence, Management Science and Electronic Commerce (AIMSEC), 274-276.

- https://doi.org/10.1109/AIMSEC.2011.6010197 Yeo, K., & Lai, W. (2007). Risk management strategies for overseas SMEs investing in China. International Journal of Management and Decision Making, 8(2/3/4), 214. doi:10.1504/ijmdm.2007.012721
- Yılmaz, H., Çemberci, M., & Uca, N. (2016). The role of collaborative advantage for analyzing the effect of supply chain collaboration on firm performance. International Journal of Commerce and Finance, 2(1), 157-168.

https://doi.org/10.1109/ICMSE.2009.5317307

- Yi-nan, Q., & Zhao-fang, C. (2009). The impact of supply on supply chain integration. 2009 International Conference Management Science and Engineering, YouTube. (2020). Forgotten fibre.
- https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Y0nd-SGWZxg Yuen, K. F., & Thai, V. (2016). Barriers to supply chain
- integration in the maritime logistics industry. Maritime Economics & Logistics, 19, 551-572.
- Zachariassen, F. (2008). Negotiation strategies in supply chain management. International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management, 38(10), 764-781.
- https://doi.org/10.1108/09600030810926484 Zelbst, Pamela J., Kenneth W. Green Jr., Victoria E. Sower, and Pedro Reyes. 2009. Impact of supply
- chain linkages on supply chain performance. Industrial Management & Data Systems 109: 665– 82.
- Zhang, C., Gunasekaran, A., & Wang, W. (2013). A comprehensive model for supply chain integration. Benchmarking: An International Journal, 22(6), 1141-1157. https://doi.org/10.1108/BIJ-05-2013-0060
- Zhao, L., Huo, B., Sun, L., & Zhao, X. (2013). The impact of supply chain risk on supply chain integration and company performance: a global investigation. Supply Chain Management: An International Journal.
- Zhong, F., Zhou, Z., & Leng, M. (2021). Negotiationsequence, pricing, and ordering decisions in a three-echelon supply chain: A coopetitive-game analysis. European Journal of Operational Research, 294(3), 1096–1107. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejor.2021.02.020
- Zhu, Q., Krikke, H., & Caniëls, M. C. (2017). Integrated supply chain risk management: a systematic review. The International Journal of Logistics Management.



MASSEY UNIVERSITY te kunenga ki pūrehuroa

Acknowledgement of Images used in this Publication



Photo by Bhavin Vaghela (co-author), 2021

Wool by Phạm Thanh Lộc from the Noun Project



Leadership by Aficons from the Noun Project

Leadership by Massupa Kaewgahya from the Noun Project



Creative Commons Zero - CCO: Peakpx











CCO Public Domain: www.maxpixel.net/She ep-Green-New-Zealand-Reported-4851884 Public domain: Taken on October 18, 2006; Bernard Spragg. NZ (flickr)

CC0 Public Domain: pxhere

Flickr by PhillipC at https://www.flickr.com /photos/42033648@N0 0/517507336. cc-by-2.0 Creative Commons Attribution-Share Alike 3.0 Unported license. Jorge Royan, 24 May 2006















pxhere



Creative Commons: Wikimedia, 111 Emergency from New Zealand

Public Domain: Flikcr, Steven Depolo

Public Domain: Flikcr, Nik Morris (van Leiden) Felixstowe, Mette Maersk

CC: Bernard Spragg. NZ from Christchurch, New Zealand

CC0 Public Domain, maxpixel.net

Attribution 2.0 Generic (CC BY 2.0), Ildar Sagdejev, flickr

Public Domain, flickr, June 6, 2007, Bernard Spragg. NZ

Combined photos: Alexander Farm, NZ, Jared Kelly Millview Sheep, Australia, Spelio (CC Flickr)

Public Domain: Flikcr, Bernard Spragg.

CC0 Public Domain – pxhere



